
Annual Report
2018



CONTENTS CORPORATE DIRECTORY 
Company Overview 1 BOARD 

John D. Patton  Chairman 
Directors’ Report 5 William M. Johnson  Non-Executive Director 

Simon K. Cato  Non-Executive Director 
Remuneration Report 28 Jeremy M. Kriewaldt Non-Executive Director 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 37 COMPANY SECRETARY 
Victor P. H. Ho 

Consolidated Statement of 38 
Profit or Loss and Other REGISTERED AND PRINCIPAL OFFICE 
Comprehensive Income Suite 614, Level 6 

370 St Kilda Road 
Consolidated Statement of 39 Melbourne, Victoria   3004 

Financial Position Telephone:  (03) 9686 7000
Facsimile:  (08) 9214 9701

Consolidated Statement of 40 Email: info@keybridge.com.au 
Changes in Equity Website: www.keybridge.com.au 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 41 COMPANY SECRETARIAL ENQUIRIES 
Level 2 

Notes to Consolidated Financial 42 23 Ventnor Avenue 
Statements West Perth, Western Australia   6005 

Telephone:  (08) 9214 9767
Directors’ Declaration 76 Facsimile:  (08) 9214 9701

Email: cosec@keybridge.com.au 
Independent Audit Report 77 

AUDITORS 
Additional ASX Information 82 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

Tower 2, Brookfield Place 
123 St Georges Terrace 
Perth, Western Australia   6000 
Telephone: (08) 9365 7000
Website:    www.deloitte.com.au 

STOCK EXCHANGE 
Australian Securities Exchange 
Sydney, New South Wales 
Website: www.asx.com.au 

ASX CODES 
KBC (Shares) 
KBCPA (Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes) 

SHARE REGISTRY (from 3 September 2018) 
Advanced Share Registry  
Main Office: 
110 Stirling Highway 
Nedlands, Western Australia   6009 
Local Telephone: 1300 113 258 
Telephone: (08) 9389 8033
Facsimile:  (08) 9262 3723
Email: admin@advancedshare.com.au 
Website: www.advancedshare.com.au 

Sydney Office: 
Suite 8H, 325 Pitt Street 
Sydney, New South Wales   2000 
Telephone: (02) 8096 3502

mailto:info@keybridge.com.au
http://www.keybridge.com.au/
mailto:cosec@keybridge.com.au
http://www.deloitte.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
mailto:admin@advancedshare.com.au
http://www.advancedshare.com.au/


30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED 
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190 

COMPANY OVERVIEW 

ANNUAL REPORT | 1 

NET ASSET BACKING 

30 September 2018 
$'000 

30 June 2018 
$’000 

Gross assets  19,776 20,021 
Less: Liabilities (4,379) (4,373) 
Net assets  15,397 15,648 
Pre-tax Net Asset Backing per share (cents) 9.74 9.90 
Less: Net deferred tax asset/liabilities /tax provision - - 
Net assets (after tax) 15,397 15,648 
Post-tax Net Asset Backing per share (cents) 9.74 9.90 

Based on total issued shares(Note 1) 158,080,432 158,080,432 

SECURITIES ON ISSUE 

Class of Security 

30 September 2018 30 June 2018 
Quoted on 

ASX Unlisted 
Quoted on 

ASX Unlisted 
Fully paid ordinary shares (ASX:KBC) 158,080,432 - 158,080,432 - 
Executive Share Plan shares - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000
Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes 
(ASX:KBCPA) 

4,401,047 - 4,401,047 - 

NET ASSETS 

30 September 2018 30 June 2018 

$’million 
% of Net 
Assets $’million 

% of Net 
Assets 

Cash 3.647 23.7% 5.008 32.0% 
Investment in Associated entity(Note 2) 2.539 16.5% 2.082 13.3% 
Other Listed Securities 7.443 48.3% 6.879 44.0% 
Managed Funds 0.227 1.5% 0.300 1.9% 
Other Investments 0.099 0.7% 0.099 0.6% 
Loan Receivables: 
• Insurance(Note 4) 3.200 20.8% 3.135 20.0% 
• Property(Note 5) 0.885 5.8% 0.885 5.7% 
• Private Equity(Note 6) 0.545 3.5% 0.533 3.4% 
• Other(Note 7) 0.836 5.4% 0.848 5.4% 
Other Assets 0.355 2.3% 0.252 1.6% 
Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes
(ASX: KBCPA)(Note 8)

(4.093) (26.6%) (4.053) (25.9%) 

Provision for tax - - - - 
Financial liabilities 0.002 <0.01% - - 
Other Liabilities (0.288) (1.9%) (0.320) (2.0%) 
Net Assets 15.397 100% 15.648 100% 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
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CURRENCY EXPOSURE 

% of Net Assets 30 September 2018 30 June 2018 
Australian Dollars 73% 27% 
New Zealand Dollars 21% 22% 
US Dollars 4% 4% 
Euros 2% 47% 

MAJOR INVESTMENT HOLDINGS 

Security Code 
Industry 
Sector 

30 September 2018 30 June 2018 

Value 
$’million 

% of 
Net 

Assets 
Value 

$’million 

% of 
Net 

Assets 
HHY Fund HHY Financials 2.539 16.5% 2.082 13.3% 
Metgasco Limited MEL Energy 2.551 16.6% 2.150 13.7% 
Molopo Energy Limited (Note 3) MPO Energy 0.943 6.1% 1.196 7.6% 
Pershing Square Holdings Ltd PSH Financials 1.585 10.3% 1.478 9.4% 
Monash Absolute Investment 
Company Limited 

MA1 Financials 1.236 8.0% 1.199 7.7% 

Yowie Group Ltd YOW Food, 
Beverage 

0.868 5.6% 0.521 3.3% 

Copper Strike Limited CSE Materials 0.261 1.7% 0.312 2.0% 
Other managed funds - - 0.227 1.5% 0.300 1.9% 
Other listed securities - - - - 0.022 0.1% 
Other unlisted securities - - 0.099 0.6% 0.100 0.6% 
Total 10.309 66.9% 9.36 59.6% 

MAJOR LOAN RECEIVABLE HOLDINGS 

Loan Exposure to 
Industry Sector 

30 September 2018 30 June 2018 
$’million $’million 

Gross 
Value Impairment 

Carrying 
Value 

Gross 
Value Impairment 

Carrying 
Value 

Private Equity(Note 3) 6.538 (5.995) 0.545 6.529 (5.996) 0.533 
Insurance(Note 4) 3.200 - 3.200 4.189 (3.304) 0.885 
Property(Note 5) 4.189 (3.304) 0.885 3.135 - 3.135
Other(Note 6) 2.228 (1.393) 0.835 - - - 
Total 16.132 (10.686) 5.465 2.229 (1.381) 0.848 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
https://www.euronext.com/en/products/equities/GG00BPFJTF46-XAMS
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MA1
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/CSE
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NOTES: 

(1) Net Asset Backing per share is based on
Keybridge’s total listed shares on issue and
excludes unlisted shares issued under the
Company’s Executive Share Plan (for further
details, refer KBC’s Notice of AGM released on
ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC’s ASX
announcement dated 19 December 2014:
Appendix 3B and Further Detail Regarding
Issuance of Loan Funded Shares).

(2) Investment in Associated entity:  Keybridge’s
investment in HHY Fund (ASX:HHY), an
Associated Entity (i.e. an entity in which the
Company has a greater than 20% interest and is
considered to have ‘significant influence’ over),
is accounted for under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.  Under the
equity method, the carrying amount of such
investment is cost plus a share of the Associate
Entity’s net profit or loss (after tax) as provided
to the Company by such Associated Entity (refer
Note 20 (Investment in Associate entity) of the
financial statements.

The Board has determined that where HHY’s net 
tangible asset (NTA) backing is lower than the
value calculated under the equity method as at
month end, the lower NTA backing value will be
adopted as the carrying value instead (based on
the Directors’ judgement).

As at 30 September 2018, Keybridge’s
25,146,973 units (30.89% interest) (30 June
2018: 25,146,973 units; 30.89%) in HHY have a
carrying value of $0.1010 per unit ($2.539m)
based on the equity method (30 June 2018:
$0.0828 per unit ($2.082m) based on the equity
method); this compares with HHY’s last bid price 
on ASX of $0.069 per unit ($1.735m) (30 June
2018: $0.069 per unit ($1.735m)) and HHY’s
NTA backing of $0.102 per unit ($2.566m) (30
June 2018: $0.084 per unit ($2.11m)), as at 30
September 2018.

(3) Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO): MPO
shares have been suspended from trading on
ASX since 25 July 2017.

As at 30 September 2018, Keybridge has
adopted a carrying value (based on the
Directors’ judgement) of $0.0205 (30 June 2018:
$0.026) per share in respect of its MPO
shareholding.

A  Refer MPO Quarterly Activities and Cashflow Reports for the 
quarter ending 30 June 2018 dated 31 July 2018 and released 
on ASX on 1 August 2018 

B  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 : C$0.9313 (per IRESS) 
as at 30 September 2018  

C  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 : C$0.9372 (per IRESS) 
as at 30 June 2018  

D  Refer MPO Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 
2017 released on ASX on 8 May 2018 

E  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 : US$0.7218 (per IRESS) 
as at 30 September 2018 

Keybridge notes that the carrying value of the 
Company’s investment in MPO has been 
assessed based on the Keybridge Board’s 
judgement of MPO’s estimated net asset 
backing having regard to the following matters: 

(a) MPO’s gross cash position of
A$15.021m as at 30 June 2018A;

(b) MPO’s C$8.4m (A$9.016mB) (30 June
2018: C$8.4m; A$8.631mC) provision in
respect of Canadian litigation mattersD;
and

(c) MPO’s estimated cash outflows for the
September 2018 quarter being $0.9m (of
$0.3m per month)A.

Keybridge notes that: 

(a) No value has been ascribed to Molopo’s
30% shareholding in Drawbridge Energy
Holdings Ltd (Drawbridge), which was
reported to have gross cash of
US$14.07m, investment and other
assets of US$4.42m, current liabilities of
US$0.29m and net assets of US$18.2m
(A$25.21mE), as at 31 March 2018F; and

(b) Drawbridge’s cash outflows for the 6
month period between April and
September 2018 have not been taken
into account – this was estimated to be
US$6.61m (gross) or US$1.1m
(A$1.53m6) per monthF.

Keybridge will re-assess the carrying value of its 
investment in MPO based on further information 
about MPO’s financial position, as released on 
ASX by MPO. 

On 7 July 2017, 3,666,285 shares in MPO (out 
of Keybridge’s total holding of 49,683,828 
shares) were vested in the Commonwealth (on 
trust for Keybridge) under the declaration and 
orders of the Takeovers Panel in the matter of 
Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R.G  
These shares will be sold by ASIC with the 
proceeds of sale accounted to Keybridge (net of 
the costs, fees and expenses of the sale). 
Keybridge remains the second largest 
shareholder in MPO with 46,017,543 shares 
(18.478%)H.  

As these vested 3.67m MPO shares are held on 
trust for Keybridge pending sale by ASIC, 
Keybridge continues to recognise the shares as 
company assets at the same carrying value per 
share as its holding of 46m MPO shares.   

F  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 8 May 2018: Molopo De-
Risks By Diversifying its Oil and Gas Exploration Portfolio 

G  Refer Takeovers Panel Reasons for Decision dated 22 August 
2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R [2017] ATP 12; 
Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP17/37 dated 10 July 
2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R - Orders; 
Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP17/34 dated 30 June 
2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R – Declaration of 
Unacceptable Circumstances 

H  Refer KBC ASX Announcement 11 July 2017: Change of 
Substantial Holder Notice for MPO 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01908513
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02005245
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02005246
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_mpo_annual_report_final.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_mpo_annual_report_final.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Reasons_For_Decisions/2017/downloads/012.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Reasons_For_Decisions/2017/downloads/012.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-37.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-37.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-34.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-34.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-34.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170711/pdf/43kl0fwz4p6hy7.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170711/pdf/43kl0fwz4p6hy7.pdf
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For further information in relation to MPO 
matters, refer to pages 11 to 19 of Keybridge’s 
Annual Report. 

(4) Loan Receivables – Insurance: In September
2014, Keybridge invested NZ$3.8m (A$3.4m)
(via NZ$0.109m (10.13%) equity and
NZ$3.691m notes) into Foundation Life, to
finance Foundation’s acquisition of Tower
Limited’s life insurance business in New Zealand 
in 2014.  Interest of 9% pa is payable under the
note, which is redeemable by noteholders in 50
years (May 2064) or by Foundation (from time to 
time).

As at 30 September 2018, the loan balance is
NZ$3.495m (A$3.2m) (30 June 2018:
NZ$3.418m and A$3.135m) and Keybridge
retains its 10.13% equity interest in Foundation
Life valued at cost of NZ$0.109m (A$0.1m) (30
June 2018: NZ$0.109m and A$0.1m).

(5) Loan Receivables – Property:  In September
2014, Keybridge took direct control of loans that
were held in a fund (where Keybridge was the
remaining sole lender) which invested in first
ranking mortgage loans over commercial
properties.  Keybridge has registered mortgages
over strata title lots comprising Conference
Facilities at a Hotel located in Manly, Sydney as
security for loans, which are owed by private
companies (which are in liquidation).

As at 30 September 2018, the loan was carried
(based on the Directors’ judgement) at a
valuation of A$0.885m (30 June 2018:
A$0.885m) – this was based on an independent
valuation received in respect of the lots in May
2016.

(6) Loan Receivables - Private Equity: Keybridge
holds a US$4.3m a limited recourse promissory
note (Note) issued by RPE I Investor LLC (RPE
Investor) (a subsidiary of Republic Financial
Corporation (RPC), a US private investment
company) secured (via collateral pledged) over
RPE Investor’s ~50% (Limited Partners’)
(contributed capital) interest in the Republic
Private Equity I Limited Liability Limited
Partnership, a private equity fund (managed by
a related party to RPC) with investments in US
based manufacturing/distribution businesses
(RPE Fund).  The principal and accrued interest
(at 14.5% pa) under the note has not been
repaid on maturity on 29 December 2017 (the
parties are in discussions in relation to a
mutually acceptable resolution of this matter).

The Note arose out of a restructure in April 2013
where, as part of arrangements to exit legacy
aviation investments (made whilst Keybridge
was known as Mariner Bridge Investments
Limited in 2006/2007) for US$29.7m cash,
Keybridge sold its interest in the RPE Fund for

US$4.3m fully funded by a Keybridge loan with 
recourse only to that asset sold (i.e. the Note).I   

On 24 August 2017, Keybridge received notice 
from an RPC Executive (Republic) advising that 
it was ‘highly unlikely that the Note will be 
satisfied on or before its scheduled maturity’ (on 
29 December 2017) and proposing a 3-year 
extension of the Note term or a ‘buy-out’ 
(retirement) of the Note for US$0.394m.  In light 
of these matters, the Board reduced the carrying 
value of the Note (receivable) to US$0.394m 
(A$0.511m).  Refer also KBC’s ASX 
announcement dated 25 August 2017: Update – 
Private Equity Loan Receivable.   

Since August 2017, Keybridge has also received 
alternative proposals from Republic to settle the 
Note liability.  As at the date of this 
announcement, Keybridge has not accepted 
Republic’s proposals and the parties are in on-
going discussions in relation to a mutually 
acceptable resolution of this matter. 
Additionally, Keybridge is also reviewing its 
rights under the Note to call upon the collateral 
pledged as security (ie. RPE Investor's interest 
in the RPE Fund). 

The Board has maintained the carrying value of 
the Note (receivable) at US$0.394m (A$0.542m) 
as at 30 September 2018 as it believes that the 
Note is recoverable on the basis that discussions 
with Republic are on-going and the Board 
believes that a value of at least the current 
carrying value will be recouped (30 June 2018: 
US$0.394m (A$0.545m)). 

(7) Loan Receivables – Other:  Includes $0.44m
(30 June 2018: $0.44m) loan advance to a
former Director (in relation to legal costs
incurred, pursuant to his Director’s Deed);
$0.73m (30 June 2018: $0.93m) relating to the
value of 3.67m MPO shares vested in the
Commonwealth (on trust for Keybridge) pending
sale; A$0.323m (€0.2m) (30 June 2018:
A$0.315m (€0.2m)) deferred consideration
receivable in August 2019 (18 months after the
sale of the Totana Solar Plant asset - refer KBC’s 
ASX announcement dated 30 April 2018: Sale of
Totana Solar Plant Assets).

(8) Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes:
(ASX: KBCPA):  Keybridge issued 4,956,936
listed Convertible Redeemable Promissory
Notes on 30 June 2015.  The notes have a face
value of $1.00, pays interest at 7% pa and
matures on 31 July 2020 (unless redeemed or
bought-back by Keybridge earlier).  Interest
distributions are generally payable quarterly and
have a franking credit component under
Australian taxation law.  Further details are
contained in the Prospectus dated 17 June
2015.  As at 30 September 2018, 4,401,047
notes are on issue (30 June 2018: 4,401,047
notes).

I  Refer KBC’ASX Announcements dated 1 May 2013: Sale of 
Aircraft and Full Repayment of Corporate Debt Facility and 10 
April 2013: Quarterly Update – January to March 2013 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140902/pdf/42ryb1647m0kct.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140902/pdf/42ryb1647m0kct.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01888486
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01888486
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01975850
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01975850
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150618/pdf/42z8c5v9175v2y.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130501/pdf/42fmqqb3k6c0lf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130501/pdf/42fmqqb3k6c0lf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130410/pdf/42f5m2kbrlvrds.pdf
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The Directors present their Directors’ Report on Keybridge Capital Limited ABN 16 088 267 190 (Company 
or KBC) and its controlled entities (the Consolidated Entity or Keybridge) for the financial year ended 30 
June 2018 (Balance Date).  

Keybridge is a company limited by shares that was incorporated in New South Wales in June 1999 and has 
been listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) since December 1999 (ASX Code : KBC). 

The Company has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during 
the financial year. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Keybridge is an investment and financial services group with a diversified portfolio of listed and unlisted 
investments/loan assets in the private equity (US), life insurance (New Zealand), property and funds 
management sectors and strategic holdings in HHY Fund (ASX:HHY), Molopo Energy Limited(ASX:MPO), 
Metgasco Limited (ASX: MEL) and Yowie Group Ltd (ASX:YOW).  Keybridge is also the Investment Manager 
of the HHY Fund. 

NET ASSET BACKING 

CONSOLIDATED 
June 2018 

$'000 
June 2017 

$’000 
Gross assets  20,021 28,199 
Less: Liabilities (4,373) (4,501) 
Net assets  15,648 23,698 
Pre-tax Net Asset Backing per share (cents) 9.9 14.92 
Less: Net deferred tax asset/liabilities /tax provision   - 
Net assets (after tax) 15,648 23,698 
Post-tax Net Asset Backing per share (cents) 9.9 14.92 

Value of dividends paid to shareholders in previous 12 months 791 - 

Adjusted Pre and post-tax NTA backing per share (cents) 10.4 N/A 
(with dividends paid during the 2017/2018 year added back) 

Based on total issued shares 158,080,432 158,812,327 

FINANCIAL POSITION 

CONSOLIDATED 
June 2018 

$'000 
June 2017 

$’000 
Cash  5,008 1,414 
Investments 7,278 11,836 
Loans and receivables 5,401 11,835 
Investment in Associate entity 2,082 2,584 
Other assets 252 530 

Gross Assets 20,021 28,199 
Convertible redeemable promissory notes liability (4,053) (4,141) 
Other liabilities (320) (360)

Total Liabilities (4,373) (4,501) 
Net deferred tax asset / liabilities   - - 

Net Assets 15,648 23,698 

Issued capital 253,638 253,717 
Share-based payments reserve 322 693 
Profits reserve 1,815 2,466 
Foreign currency translation reserve (3) - 
Accumulated losses (240,124) (233,178) 

Total Equity 15,648 23,698 

https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/announcements.do
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.aurorafunds.com.au/investment-funds/hastings_high_yield_fund/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
http://www.molopoenergy.com/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
http://www.metgasco.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
http://www.yowiegroup.com/
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
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OPERATING RESULTS 

CONSOLIDATED 
June 2018 

$’000 
June 2017 

$’000 

Fees income 87 202 
Realised gain on sale of investments 1,003 1,808 
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (6,135) (534) 
Reversal of impairment of loans and receivables 933   - 
Impairment (expenses)/reversal (809) (6,036)
Excess of net assets over cost on acquisition 804   - 
Unrealised gain on derivative liabilities 88 62 
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of foreign currency assets 170 (354) 
Interest 694 747 
Dividend 14 281 
Other income 37 267 
Total Revenue/Other Income/Other Gains and Losses (3,113) (3,557) 

Share of Associate entity's loss (761) (299)
Personnel expenses (524) (646)
Corporate expenses (1,659) (1,111)
Administration expenses (345) (406)
Other expenses (96) (120)
Total expenses (3,385) (2,582) 

Finance expenses (308) (308)
Loss before tax (6,806) (6,446) 
Income tax benefit/(expense) - - 

Loss after tax attributable to members (6,806) (6,446) 

Keybridge generated an overall net gain of $1.737 million from the sale of the Totana Solar Plant assets after 
the repayment/discharge of various loans owed to Keybridge by the corporate entities which held Totana and 
the consolidation of the corporate ownership structure vis a vis Totana (as announced on 30 April 201859): 

(a) The discharge of the loans led to a reversal of previous years’ impairment of the loans and generated
a gain of $932,881 for Keybridge; and

(b) The consolidation of Bridge Infrastructure Capital Pty Limited (BIC) generated a gain of $804,156 for
Keybridge – this was due to Keybridge recognising BIC’s net assets on consolidation which was in
excess of the consideration paid by Keybridge to acquire the balance of the 50% interest in BIC that it
did not previously own.

Keybridge’s $6.806 million net loss position for the year was caused principally by: 

• a $5.912 million provision for impairment in respect of its 49.7 million shareholdings in Molopo Energy
Limited (ASX:MPO) (suspended from ASX since 25 July 2017).  The Directors have reduced the
carrying value of MPO from 14.5 cents to 2.6 cents per share during the year following disclosures
made by Molopo on 8 May 201816,17,18 and the findings of the Takeovers Panel in the matter of Molopo
Energy Limited 10 & 1131,34,36, further details of which are outlined in the Directors’ Report;

• a $0.761 million loss attributable to its 30.98% interest in Associate entity, HHY Fund (ASX:HHY),
primarily due to the adverse performance of Yowie Group Ltd (ASX:YOW);

• a $0.659 million net unrealised loss on other (non-MPO) investments; and

• the $0.308 million interest distributions paid to Convertible Redeemable Promissory Note (CRPN)
holders, which is recognised as an expense.

https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01975850
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
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Keybridge generated a total net realised and unrealised loss of $5.132 million (pre- and post-tax) for the year 
from its securities investment and trading activities, comprising: 

(a) Realised gains of $1.003 million (from cost), which includes:

(i) $1.154 million realised gain on the sale of shares in PTB Group Limited (ASX:PTB); and

(ii) $0.153 million realised loss on the sale of shares in SIV Asset Management Limited (ASX:SAM);

(b) Unrealised loss of $5.2 million, which includes:

(i) $0.529 million unrealised gain attributable to Metgasco Limited (ASX:MEL);

(ii) $0.185 million unrealised gain attributable to Pershing Square Holdings Ltd (PSH);

(iii) $5.476 million unrealised loss attributable to its 46 million shareholding in Molopo Energy
Limited (ASX:MPO); and

(iv) $0.354 million unrealised loss attributable to Yowie Group Ltd (ASX:YOW);

(c) The accounting reversal of prior year unrealised gain/loss on investments sold during the year of
$0.958 million (which is offset against the unrealised loss of $5.2 million (in (b) above) to arrive at the
$6.135 million unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss shown in the
Operating Results).

LOSS PER SHARE 

CONSOLIDATED 
June 2018 

cents 
June 2017 

cents 

Loss per share (cents) (4.30) (4.06) 

DIVIDENDS  

Consistent with its stated Dividend Policy to make annual distributions of at least 0.5 cent per share (referred 
to below), Keybridge has declared payment of a fully franked dividend as follows: 

Dividend Record Date Expected Payment Date Franking 
0.50 cent per share 21 September 2018 28 September 2018 100% franked 

Keybridge’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan1 (DRP) will not apply to this dividend. 

During the financial year, Keybridge also paid a dividend, as follows: 

Dividend Rate Record Date Payment Date Franking 
0.5 cent per share 30 November 2017 8 December 2017 100% franked 

As at 30 June 2018, Keybridge had: 

• $1.815 million in its Profits Reserve account, which is available to fund the payment of dividends to
shareholders in the future; and

• $7.702 million Franking Credits, which is sufficient to fund the payment of fully franked (at Keybridge’s
applicable 27.5% company tax rate) dividends and CRPN interest distributions totalling $20.31 million.

1  Refer KBC ASX Announcement dated 27 February 2015: Amendments to Dividend Reinvestment Plan Rules 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/PTB
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/SAM
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
https://www.euronext.com/en/products/equities/GG00BPFJTF46-XAMS
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150227/pdf/42wy64x30qhrhp.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01918945
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150227/pdf/42wy64x30qhrhp.pdf
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Dividend Policy 

On 8 November 20172, Keybridge announced a new Dividend Policy, as follows: 

It is the objective of Keybridge to provide a regular and stable distribution to shareholders after the 
announcement of its 30 June year end operating results.  These results are normally announced at the 
end of August each year and Keybridge will endeavour to announce its proposed dividend at this time. 

Dividends will be funded from Keybridge’s Profits Reserve account, which comprises appropriations 
from the Company’s net profits earned during relevant periods from time to time. 

Keybridge intends to make annual distributions to shareholders of at least 0.5 cent per share, to the 
extent permitted by law and subject to prudent business practice.  It is envisaged that shareholder 
distributions will be made once per year to limit costs and administration.  Dividends will be franked to 
the extent that available franking credits permit. 

Keybridge also holds a number of legacy assets (primarily loan receivables).  As and when such assets 
are realised into cash or liquid securities by the Board in the ordinary course of business, Keybridge 
may also undertake further distributions of fully-franked dividends and or capital returns to 
shareholders.  Proposed capital returns will be subject to prior shareholder approval. 

Keybridge adopted this Dividend Policy due to the Board reaching the view that the Company has a 
reasonable level of Profits Reserve to fund regular dividend distributions, at least in the next 2-3 years, which 
means Keybridge is not reliant on funding dividends only from net profits generated in respect of the 
prevailing/current half year or full year period.  The Board also considered that having a formal Dividend Policy 
is a prudent initiative to focus the Company’s activities to achieve results that justify the payment of dividends 
consistent with the policy and hence enhancing shareholder value. 

CRPN DISTRIBUTIONS 

During the financial year, the Company paid interest distributions to holders of its Convertible Redeemable 
Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA) (CRPN) as follows: 

Distribution Rate Record Date Payment Date Franking3 
1.75 cent per note 12 June 2018 20 June 2018 100% franked 
1.75 cent per note 15 March 2018 20 March 2018 100% franked 
1.75 cent per note 12 December 2017 20 December 2017 100% franked 
1.75 cent per note 14 September 2017 20 September 2017 100% franked 

SECURITIES ON ISSUE 

Class of Security 

30 June 2018 30 June 2017 
Quoted on 

ASX Unlisted 
Quoted on 

ASX Unlisted 

Fully paid ordinary shares (ASX:KBC) 158,080,432 - 158,812,327 - 
Executive Share Plan (ESP) shares4 - 9,000,000 - 15,000,000
Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA)5 4,401,047 - 4,401,047 - 

2  Refer KBC ASX Announcement dated 8 November 2017: Dividend Policy 
3  A fixed interest rate of 7% per annum is generally payable in arrears on 20 March, 20 June, 20 September and 20 December of each year.  CRPNs are regarded as an 'equity 

interest' under Australian tax law with interest payments regarded as a 'non-share dividend'.  Interest payments will be fully franked (where possible) or grossed up with 
additional cash payments to compensate for any unfranked component. 'Qualified' Australian resident holders will have access to franking credits in this regard.  Further details 
are in Note 8 of the accompanying financial statements and in the CRPN Prospectus (dated 17 June 2015) and ATO Class Ruling CR 2015/54. 

4  Issued on 10 December 2014 (refer KBC ASX Announcement dated 19 December 2014: Appendix 3B and Further Detail Regarding Issuance of Loan Funded Shares) after 
receipt of shareholder approval at an annual general meeting held on 28 November 2014 (refer KBC Notice of AGM released on ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC ASX 
announcement dated 1 December 2014: Results of AGM). 

5  Keybridge issued Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes on 30 June 2015 (refer KBC ASX Announcement dated 18 June 2015: Appendix 3B) after receipt of shareholder 
approval on 28 November 2014 (refer KBC Notice of AGM released on ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC ASX announcement dated 1 December 2014: Results of AGM).  
The notes have a face value of $1.00, pays interest at 7% pa and matures on 31 July 2020 (unless redeemed or bought-back by Keybridge earlier.  Further details are in Note 
8 of the accompanying financial statements and in the CRPN Prospectus (dated 17 June 2015) and ATO Class Ruling CR 2015/54. 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180604/pdf/43vjhnszr3tcg0.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180308/pdf/43s95y8jt77t0d.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171205/pdf/43pxn589pbycjp.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170908/pdf/43m63bkxmnpynh.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01918947
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
https://www.ato.gov.au/law/view/pdf/pbr/cr2015-054.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141201/pdf/42v580c89yyfz3.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150618/pdf/42z8c5v9175v2y.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141201/pdf/42v580c89yyfz3.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
https://www.ato.gov.au/law/view/pdf/pbr/cr2015-054.pdf
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ON-MARKET BUY BACKS 

The Company’s 12 month on-market buy-back programmes in respect of its shares (announced on 18 
January 2017) and CRPNs (also announced on 18 January 2017) were completed during the financial year 
with: 

• 731,895 shares being bought-back (between a range of $0.10 to $0.115 per share) at a total cost of
$79,450 under the programme (and also during the financial year), as outlined in the Company’s Final
Buy-Back Notice lodged on ASX on 5 December 2017); and

• No CRPNs being bought-back under the programme, as outlined in the Company’s Final Buy-Back
Notice lodged on ASX on 18 January 2018.

On 5 December 2017, the Company announced its intention to undertake a fresh on-market buy-back of up 
to 14,227,238 shares (being ~9% of 158,080,432 total shares on issue) on or before 30 November 2018. 

On 24 January 2018, the Company announced its intention to undertake a fresh on-market buy-back of up to 
440,104 CRPNs (being ~10% of 4,401,047 total notes on issue) on or before 18 January 2019. 

No shares or CRPNs have been bought-back under these fresh market buy-back programmes as at the date 
of this report. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Net Assets Weightings 

A summary of Keybridge’s net asset weighting (by value and as a percentage of net assets) is: 

30 June 2018 31 December 2017 30 June 2017 

$’m 
% Net 

Assets $’m 
% Net 

Assets $’m 
% Net 

Assets 
Cash 5.008 32% 1.821 8% 1.414 6% 
Investment in Associated entity 2.082 13% 3.261 14% 2.584 11% 
Other Listed Securities 6.879 44% 8.918 39% 11.501 49% 
Managed Funds 0.300 2% 0.203 1% 0.232 1% 
Other Investments 0.100 1% 0.099 1% 0.103 1% 
Loan Receivables: 
• Insurance 3.135 20% 3.173 14% 3.250 14% 
• Property 0.885 6% 0.885 4% 0.885 4% 
• Private Equity 0.533 3% 0.504 2% 0.511 2% 
• Infrastructure - -% 6.482 28% 6.432 27% 
• Other 0.848 5% 0.672 3% 0.757 3% 
Other Assets 0.252 2% 1.163 5% 0.530 2% 
Convertible Redeemable

Promissory Notes 
(4.053) (26%) (4.071) (18%) (4.141) (17%) 

Provision for tax - -% - -% - -%
Other Liabilities (0.320) (2%) (0.185) (1%) (0.360) (1%)
Net Assets 15.649 100% 22.925 100% 23.698 100% 

Currency Exposure 

A summary of Keybridge’s exposure to foreign currencies (based on net assets held) is: 

% of Net Assets 30 June 2018 31 December 2017 30 June 2017 
Euros 47% 28% 29% 
Australian Dollars 27% 54% 54% 
New Zealand Dollars 22% 16% 15% 
US Dollars 4% 2% 2% 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170118/pdf/43fd29bcc79759.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170118/pdf/43fd29bcc79759.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170118/pdf/43fd2c4bkz4fw0.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171205/pdf/43pwqhy3qgzf0k.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180118/pdf/43qwlp95f91ljx.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171205/pdf/43pxmplvw0l9wr.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180124/pdf/43r0xvblq8v41w.pdf
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Major Investment Holdings 

A summary of Keybridge’s major investment holdings (by value and as a percentage of net assets) is: 

Security Code Industry Sector 

30 June 
2018 

31 December 
2017 

30 June 
2017 

$’m 
% Net 
Assets $’m 

% Net 
Assets $’m 

% Net 
Assets 

Molopo Energy Limited MPO Energy 1.196 8% 6.442 28% 7.204 30% 
Metgasco Limited MEL Energy 2.150 14% 1.961 9% 0.928 4% 
HHY Fund HHY Financials 2.082 13% 3.261 14% 2.584 11% 
Pershing Square Holdings Ltd PSH Financials 1.478 9% - - - - 
Monash Absolute Investment 
Company Limited 

MA1 Financials 1.199 7% - - - - 

Yowie Group Ltd YOW Food, Beverage 0.521 3% - - - - 
Copper Strike Limited CSE Materials 0.312 2% 0.514 2% 0.312 1% 
Other managed funds  - - 0.300 2% 0.203 1% 0.232 1% 
Other listed securities - - 0.022 <1% 0.001 <1% 3.057 12% 
Other unlisted securities - - 0.100 <1% 0.099 <1% 0.103 <1% 

Major Loan Receivable Holdings 

A summary of Keybridge’s major loan receivable holdings is: 

Loan Exposure 
to Industry 
Sector 

30 June 2018 
($’m) 

31 December 2017 
($’m) 

30 June 2017 
($’m) 

Gross 
Value Impairment 

 Carrying 
Value 

Gross 
Value Impairment 

Carrying 
Value 

Gross 
Value Impairment 

Carrying 
Value 

Private Equity 6.529 (5.996) 0.533 6.500 (5.996) 0.504 6.507 (5.996) 0.511 
Property 4.189 (3.304) 0.885 4.189 (3.304) 0.885 4.189 (3.304) 0.885 
Insurance 3.135 - 3.135 3.173 - 3.173  3.250 - 3.250
Infrastructure - - - 12.564 (6.082) 6.482 12.514 (6.082) 6.432 
Other 2.229 (1.381) 0.848 0.957 (0.285) 0.672 0.883 (0.126) 0.757 
Total 16.081 10.68 5.401 27.383 (15.667) 11.716 27.343 (15.508) 11.835 

Investment in HHY Fund (ASX:HHY) 

Keybridge is the largest shareholder in the HHY Fund with 25,146,973 units (30.89%6) held currently and as 
at Balance Date (30 June 2017: 22,646,973 units (26.46%)), which were acquired at an average cost of 
$0.1115 per unit.   

HHY is regarded as an Associated Entity (i.e. an entity in which Keybridge has a greater than 20% interest 
and by virtue of the Company also being the Investment Manager of HHY, is considered to have ‘significant 
influence’ over) and is accounted for under the equity method in the Keybridge consolidated financial 
statements.  Under the equity method, the carrying amount of such investment is cost plus a share of the 
Associate Entity’s net profit or loss (after tax) as provided to the Company by such Associated Entity (refer 
Note 20 (Investment in Associate Entity – Accounting Policy) of the accompanying financial statements.   

As at 30 June 2018, Keybridge’s investment in HHY had a carrying value of $0.083 per unit ($2.082 million); 
this compares with HHY’s last bid price on the ASX of $0.069 per unit ($1.735 million) and HHY’s after-tax 
net tangible asset (NTA) backing of $0.084 per unit ($2.111 million), as at 30 June 2018. 

During the year, HHY units traded on the ASX within a range of $0.058 (in May 2018) to $0.135 (in September 
2017) with a closing price of $0.069 (and $5.617 million market capitalisation) as at 30 June 2018 and a 
current closing price of $0.062 (as at 29 August 2018).   

6  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 19 January 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for HHY 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
https://www.euronext.com/en/products/equities/GG00BPFJTF46-XAMS
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MA1
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/CSE
http://www.aurorafunds.com.au/investment-funds/hastings_high_yield_fund/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180119/pdf/43qx9pk7qg9f96.pdf
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Aurora Funds Management Limited (AFML) is the Responsible Entity of HHY and Keybridge is the Investment 
Manager7 of HHY.  During the year, the Company earned $60,170 investment management fees income in 
respect of its investment management of HHY.  

HHY is currently predominately invested in Australian listed equities but its investment strategy includes 
investments in listed Australian and international equities, options, convertible securities and other derivative 
securities. 

On 30 October 20178, HHY announced its intention to undertake an on-market buy-back of up to 8,558,344 
units (being ~10% of 85,583,437 total units on issue) on or before ~13 November 2018.  During the year, 
4,179,899 units have been bought-back (between a range of $0.10 to $0.12 per unit) at a total cost of 
$494,044 under this programme, as set out in HHY’s most recent Daily Buy-Back Notice lodged on ASX on 
19 January 20189. 

Information concerning HHY may be viewed on its website:  http://www.aurorafunds.com.au/ 

HHY’s market announcements may also be viewed from the ASX website (www.asx.com.au) under ASX code 
“HHY”. 

Investment in Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO) 

As at Balance Date, Keybridge is the second largest shareholder in Molopo with 46,017,543 shares 
(18.48%10) (30 June 2017: 49,683,828 shares and 19.95%), which were acquired at an average cost of $0.15 
per share.   

Molopo shares have been suspended from trading on ASX since 27 July 2017 as at the previous (30 June 
2017) balance date, Keybridge adopted a carrying value based on a closing (last bid) price of $0.145 as at 
26 May 2017 (the day prior to its suspension on 29 May 2017).  Molopo shares resumed trading on ASX on 
4 July but was suspended again on 25 July 2017 with a closing price of $0.14 as at 21 July 2017, the date of 
the last trade on the ASX prior to its suspension. 

At Balance Date, Keybridge has adopted a carrying value of $0.026 per Molopo share, resulting in a provision 
for impairment expense of $5.912 million being recognised for the financial year. 

This  impairment has occurred  as a consequence of the conduct of the previous Molopo Board having 
entered into a series of  transactions (the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions) which have caused a 
reduction of  US$35 million (or nearly A$50 million) in Molopo’s cash reserves in circumstances where 
such  conduct  have  been  the  subject  of: 

• A declaration of ‘unacceptable circumstances’ by the Takeovers Panel in the matter of Molopo Energy
Limited 10 & 1131,34,36; and

• The ASX issuing a ‘Breaches Letter’ to Molopo on 11 May 2018 where ASX advised that it considers
that MPO has committed serious breaches of the ASX Listing Rules and may also have breached the
Corporations Act for making misleading disclosures to ASX and as such, ASX has referred their
findings to ASIC for further investigation30.

7  Refer KBC ASX Announcement 1 July 2016: Sale of Aurora Funds Management 
8  Refer HHY ASX Announcement dated 30 October 2017: Appendix 3C – Announcement of Buy-Back 
9  Refer HHY ASX Announcement dated 19 January 2018: Appendix 3E – Daily Buy-Back Notice 
10  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 11 July 2017: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for MPO 

http://www.aurorafunds.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
http://www.molopoenergy.com/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160701/pdf/4388ss3kvf0ckb.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171030/pdf/43nrl6bsc6sdfq.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180119/pdf/43qxdsjfqc3cg5.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170711/pdf/43kl0fwz4p6hy7.pdf


30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED 
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

ANNUAL REPORT | 12 

The $0.026 per share carrying value for Molopo was based on the Keybridge Board’s judgement of Molopo’s 
estimated net asset backing having regard to the following matters: 

(a) Molopo’s gross cash position of A$15.021 million as at 30 June 201811;

(b) Molopo’s C$8.4 million (A$8.631 million12) provision in respect of Canadian litigation matters16;

(c) No value has been ascribed to Molopo’s 30% shareholding in Drawbridge Energy Holdings Ltd
(Drawbridge), which was reported to have gross cash of US$14.07 million, investment and other
assets of US$4.42 million, current liabilities of US$0.29 million and net assets of US$18.2 million
(A$24.57 million13), as at 31 March 201818; and

(d) Drawbridge’s cash outflows for the 6 month period between April and September 2018 have not been
taken into account – this was estimated to be US$6.61 million (gross) or US$1.1 million (A$1.49
million13) per month18.

Keybridge will re-assess the carrying value of its investment in Molopo based on further information about 
Molopo’s financial position, as released on ASX by Molopo. 

Further details concerning Molopo and the circumstances revealed in May 201816,17,18,30 concerning the 
conduct of the former Directors of Molopo – Messrs Baljit Singh Johal (former Chairman and Managing 
Director), Richard Matthews (former Finance Director and Company Secretary) and Matthew Edward 
Cudmore (former Non-Executive Director) (together, Former Directors), who were all removed as Directors 
at Molopo’s AGM held on 31 May 201814 - are set out below. 

Keybridge notes that these circumstances are being reviewed by the new MPO Board - Messrs Roger Corbett 
AO, Anthony Hartnell AM, Ralph Curton and William Johnson (being also a Director of Keybridge), who were 
elected at Molopo’s AGM on 31 May 201815 - who are “now vigorously pursuing multiple avenues to recover” 
Molopo’s funds17.  Keybridge supports the efforts of the new MPO Board to attempt to restore value to MPO 
which was lost by the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions and the conduct of former Molopo Directors in the 
circumstances described below. 

Information concerning Molopo may be viewed on its website: www.molopoenergy.com. 

Molopo’s market announcements may also be viewed from the ASX website (www.asx.com.au) under ASX 
code “MPO”. 

Orient and Drawbridge Transactions 

On 8 May 2018, Molopo released its 2017 Annual Report16 and March 2018 Quarterly Report17 (both late per 
the ASX Listing Rules and Corporations Act) and an ASX Announcement (Molopo De-Risks by Diversifying 
its Oil and Gas Exploration Portfolio)18 which disclosed for the first time a series of major transactions carried 
out between January and March 2018 involving a further US$23.5 million cash injection into Orient and a 
US$35 million vend of the Orient Project in exchange for a 30% non-voting interest in Drawbridge (which 
values Drawbridge, post vend, at US$117 million or more than A$150 million). 

By way of background, set out below is a summary of the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions which has 
seen a total of at least US$35 million (or nearly A$50 million) of Molopo shareholders’ funds expended in a 
little over 7 months. 

11  Refer MPO Quarterly Activities and Cashflow Reports for the quarter ending 30 June 2018 dated 31 July 2017 and released on ASX on 1 August 2018 
12  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 : C$0.9732 (per IRESS) as at 30 June 2018  
13  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 : US$0.7407 (per IRESS) as at 30 June 2018 
14  Refer MPO Notice of AGM and Explanatory Statement dated and released on ASX on 2 May 2018 and MPO’s ASX announcement dated 31 May 2018: AGM Results 
15  Refer MPO’s ASX announcements dated 1 June 2018: Board Changes and 4 June 2018: Appointment of Chair 
16  Refer MPO Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 released on ASX on 8 May 2018 
17  Refer MPO Quarterly Report for the quarter ending 31 March 2018 dated and released on ASX on 8 May 2018 
18  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 8 May 2018: Molopo De-Risks By Diversifying its Oil and Gas Exploration Portfolio 

http://www.molopoenergy.com/
http://www.asx.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_mpo_annual_report_final.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01979703
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02005245
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02005246
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01977977
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01986768
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01987195
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01987503
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_mpo_annual_report_final.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180508/pdf/43tw8nj5b5cw1f.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
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1. The Orient Transaction – US$11.5 Million

1.1. On or about 25 July 2017, Molopo paid Gil Feiler US$7 million to acquire 50% of Orient FRC Ltd
(Orient) (which was announced a month later on 22 August 201719 – the Orient Announcement). 

1.2. Orient’s 50% earn-in interest in an oil and gas prospect located in Florida, USA with Kerogen Florida 
Energy LP (Kerogen) (with the primary asset being the Indigo Lease) was secured by Kerogen (from 
the landholder) for an 8-year lease term expiring on 26 May 2019) and Orient had an obligation to drill 
and spud a first commitment well by 1 May 201820 (the Orient Project). 

1.3. Orient was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) on 8 September 2014 with no apparent oil 
and gas exploration and development track record nor any physical operations (ie. office and staff) and 
Israeli-resident Gil Feiler has no oil and gas credentials – Molopo has not disclosed how, when and 
upon what terms Gil Feiler had secured the prospects from Kerogen before on-selling a 50% interest 
in Orient at a valuation for Orient of US$14 million. 

1.4. Keybridge had initiated Victorian Supreme Court proceedings39,40 against Molopo to, inter alia, find out 
information about the Orient Transaction and as part of those proceedings, had commissioned an 
independent expert report (prepared by RISC Advisory) which has concluded, inter alia, that Orient’s 
interest in the Florida prospects is valued at between US$0 and US$395,000. 

1.5. On 11 December 2017, Molopo loaned US$4.5 million to Orient21 (as announced on 11 December 
2017 – the Orient Funding Announcement); this advance occurred on the day Molopo’s long-
standing Company Secretary was suddenly terminated for no apparent reason22. 

1.6. Gil Feiler (being the other 50% shareholder of Orient) was also required to advance a US$4.5 million 
loan to Orient as confirmed by Molopo in the Orient Funding Announcement.  On 23 April 201823, in 
response to a query from the ASX, Molopo advised that “Dr Feiler has not to date executed any 
shareholder loan agreement with Orient” and “To date, Dr Feiler has not contributed a shareholder 
loan” – Molopo failed to mentioned that Gil Feiler had ceased to be an Orient shareholder some 3 
months earlier on 30 January 2018, having been bought-out of his remaining 50% interest for a further 
US$7 million. 

2. The Orient Transaction – ‘Stage 2’ – US$23.5 Million
2.1. During the January to March 2018 quarter17,18, Molopo invested a further US$23.5 million into Orient, 

which funds were applied as outlined below. 

2.2. On 30 January 2018, Orient spent US$7 million to buy-back Gil Feiler’s 50% shareholding (held via Gil 
Feiler’s ‘special purpose vehicle’, ESGM Investments Limited24) – this was funded from Molopo’s loans 
to Orient as announced on 8 May 201816,17,18. 

2.3. Thus, in a little over 6 months, Gil Feiler received US$14 million of Molopo’s money to sell out of Orient 
which Molopo had previously announced had no other assets except the right to drill exploration wells 
on the Florida prospect, the value of which an Independent Expert has assessed at between US$0 - 
US$395,000.  Gil Feiler’s exit from Orient occurred even though he had not yet provided his share of 
funding (US$4.5 million) into Orient, as Molopo advised he was required to do (as announced in the 
Orient Funding Announcement), when Molopo contributed its US$4.5 million). 

2.4. At some stage on or before 7 March 2018, Molopo advanced a further US$16.5 million to Orient - this 
was in addition to the US$4.5 million loaned to Orient on 11 December 201721 and the US$7 million 
loaned to fund Gil Feiler’s buy-back on 30 January 201818).   

2.5. Orient, in turn, provided a US$21 million intercompany loan to a wholly-owned subsidiary, Orient FRC 
(US) LLC (Orient US)18. 

2.6. Orient US was registered in Texas, USA on 22 February 2016 and changed its name from Palisades 
Energy LLC on 14 December 2017 – this company was previously associated with Chris Burkard, who 
is associated with the Drawbridge Group18; Chris Burkard was also the former VP – Operations of 
‘Kerogen Exploration LLC’.25 

19  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 22 August 2017: Molopo Acquires Interest in US Oil and Gas Project 
20  Molopo announced on 8 May 2018 that the Indigo Lease term has been extended to 23 September 2014 and Orient’s obligation to spud the first commitment well has been 

extended to 1 April 2019. 
21  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 11 December 2017: Update on Orient FRC Ltd Investment 
22  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 11 December 2017: Change of Company Secretary  
23  Refer MPO ASX announcement dated 23 April 2018: Response to Disclosure Query for Release to ASX 
24  ESGM Investments Limited was incorporated in Belize on 18 October 2017 
25  https://www.linkedin.com/in/chris-burkard-8635503/  

https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170822/pdf/43lly3l23qgjxm.pdf
http://riscadvisory.com/
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01973758
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170822/pdf/43lly3l23qgjxm.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018_confirmation_of_release_progress.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01932579
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01973758
https://www.linkedin.com/in/chris-burkard-8635503/


30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED 
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

ANNUAL REPORT | 14 

3. The Drawbridge Transaction – US$35 Million

3.1. On 21 February 2018, Orient entered into a ‘Contribution Agreement’ with BVI registered Drawbridge
Energy Holdings Ltd26 (Drawbridge Holdings) pursuant to which (the Drawbridge 
Transactions)16,17,18: 

3.1.1. Orient agreed to assign its interest in the Orient Project to Orient US; 

3.1.2. Orient agreed to transfer its interest in Orient US to Drawbridge; 

3.1.3. Molopo received ‘Class A’ non-voting shares in Drawbridge, representing 30% of Drawbridge – 
the balance of 70% being held via ‘Class B’ shares by BVI registered Sopris Energy Investments 
Limited27 (Sopris); and 

3.1.4. Orient agreed to extinguish its US$21 million intercompany loan to Orient US. 

3.2. The Drawbridge Transactions were completed on 7 March 2018 following which Drawbridge Energy 
Operations & Management LLC28 (Drawbridge Operations) were appointed to operate the Orient 
Project.   

3.3. Thus, Molopo vended Orient US (holding the US$14 million Orient Project and US$21 million cash) for 
a 30% non-voting interest in Drawbridge Holdings, placing a post-vend valuation of US$117 million on 
Drawbridge Holdings. 

3.4. Drawbridge Holdings is stated as having the following oil and gas projects18, with an ascribed (pre-
vend) value of ~US$82 million based on the US$35 million Orient US vend: 

3.4.1. Texas, Permian Basin: A US$3.673 million investment into newly-formed Fenix DB LLC29, 
which acquired 6,000 net acres in Texas, USA containing 37 wells producing 65-90 barrels of 
oil per day, with Drawbridge to fund acquisitions (US$2 million) and an initial 5 well drilling 
programme (US$1 million) and Drawbridge holding Class B shares with a right to a preferential 
return until its investment is recouped after which it will convert into 70 - 85% of Class A shares; 

3.4.2. Texas, South-East Gulf Coast (Onshore): Drawbridge has licensed 50 square miles of (3D 
seismic) data and has secured 400 leasehold acres; 

3.4.3. Texas, South-East Gulf Coast (Offshore): on 21 March 2018, Drawbridge was the successful 
bidder of 7 offshore Gulf of Mexico lease blocks totalling 40,320 gross acres; and 

3.4.4. Texas, East Crystal City (Jackson County) Prospect: Drawbridge has a 25% interest with its 
share of funding estimated to be US$400,000. 

3.5. A “Poison Pill’ has also been put in place - if Baljit Johal (former Molopo’s Chairman and Managing 
Director) ceases to be a Director of Drawbridge Holdings, the other 70% shareholder, Sopris (at its 
complete discretion) has to approve Molopo’s replacement nominee – Molopo has not disclosed 
whether it has been successful in procuring Mr Johal resignation and the appointment of a new 
nominee in this regard.  No details as to the ownership of Sopris have been provided to date. 

Further details are also in the following Keybridge Media Releases, which are available on the Keybridge 
website (www.keybridge.com.au): 

• 23 January 2018: Letter of Concerns to Molopo Energy Limited Shareholders;

• 11 May 2018: Letter to Molopo Shareholders for Upcoming AGM;

• 23 May 2018: Further Letter to Molopo Shareholders for AGM – Orient and Drawbridge Transactions
and Breaches of ASX Listing Rules; and

• 24 May 20918: Questions on Notice to Auditor at MPO AGM.

26  Drawbridge Energy Holdings Ltd was incorporated in the BVI on 5 February 2018 
27  Sopris Energy Investments Limited was incorporated in the BVI on 5 February 2018 
28  Drawbridge Energy Operations & Management LLC was incorporated in Delaware, USA on 19 December 2017 
29  Fenix DB LLC was incorporated in Texas, USA on 31 January 2018 

http://www.keybridge.com.au/
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Molopo’s Breaches of ASX Listing Rules and ASIC Investigations 

On 11 May 2018, MPO released an ASX Announcement (MPO Breaches of ASX Listing Rules30) containing 
a letter from the ASX to MPO (ASX Breaches Letter) about the conduct of Molopo and its Directors which 
sets out, amongst others, the following matters: 

• Molopo has committed serious breaches of the Listing Rules;

• Molopo may have breached the Corporations Act for making misleading disclosures to ASX;

• ASX has referred its findings to ASIC for potential action against Molopo;

• ASX requires the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions be put to Molopo shareholders for approval;

• Molopo will remain suspended from ASX until ASIC has completed its investigations;

• Molopo must re-comply with the admission requirements of Listing Rules to be re-admitted to the ASX;

• ASX may exercise their discretion to deny re-admission given Molopo’s conduct and breaches of the
Listing Rules; and

• ASX may rule that the Former Directors (Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore) fail the ‘good fame
and character test’ (due to their involvement in Molopo’s breaches), which is one of the conditions for
re-admission to ASX.

It is clear from Molopo’s interactions with ASX and Molopo’s ASX announcements that the Former Directors 
of Molopo omitted to disclose material matters both to ASX and its own shareholders, including completed 
aspects of the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions. 

Further details concerning the ASX Breaches Letter are in Keybridge’s Media Release dated 23 May 2018: 
Further Letter to Molopo Shareholders for AGM – Orient and Drawbridge Transactions and Breaches of ASX 
Listing Rules, which is available on the Keybridge website (www.keybridge.com.au). 

Takeover Bids for Molopo 

(a) Aurora Funds Management Limited

On 27 July 2017, the unlisted Aurora Fortitude Absolute Return Fund (AFARF) announced an intention to 
make an off-market takeover bid for Molopo for 100% of the shares of Molopo at $0.18 per share, to be 
satisfied by cash (capped at $5 million in total) and or the equivalent value in AFARF units, which may be 
redeemed off-market at the prevailing net asset value based redemption price in accordance with AFARF’s 
constitution and fund updates.  The bid consideration had been subsequently amended by AFARF to $0.135 
and potentially to $0.153 (subject to conditions) per MPO share.   

The proposed AFARF bid was subject to a range of ‘defeating conditions’, which were summarised in ABW’s 
ASX announcement dated 27 July 2017: Aurora Fortitude Absolute Return Fund (AFARF) announces cash 
and/or scrip takeover bid for Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO).   

Aurora Absolute Return Fund (ASX:ABW) is fully invested in AFARF and Aurora Funds Management Limited 
(AFML) is the Responsible Entity of both ABW and AFARF.   

AFARF’s bid expired on 20 August 2018 on account of the ‘defeating conditions’ not being freed by AFML. 

Further details concerning AFARF’s bid are in ABW's and Molopo’s ASX announcements, as follows: 

• ABW – 26 October 2017: Bidder’s Statement;

• MPO – 28 November 2017: Target’s Statement;

• MPO - 19 January 2018: Supplementary Target’s Statement;

• MPO - 19 March 2018: Second Supplementary Target’s Statement;

• MPO - 28 May 2018: Third Supplementary Target’s Statement;

30  Refer ASX Letter to Molopo dated and released on ASX on 11 May 2018: MPO Breaches of ASX Listing Rules 

http://www.keybridge.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/ABW
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180511/pdf/43tyv8fjdbr74g.pdf


30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED 
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

ANNUAL REPORT | 16 

• ABW - 12 June 2018: Notice of Variation of MPO Bid;

• ABW - 10 August 2018: Molopo Energy – Withdrawal of Takeover Bid; and

• ABW - 13 August 2018: Section 630(3) Notice of Status of Defeating Conditions.

(b) Wilson Asset Management

On 8 November 2017, WAM Capital Limited (ASX:WAM) (WAM) announced an intention to make an off-
market takeover bid for all of the shares of Molopo at $0.135 per share. 

The proposed WAM bid was subject to a range of ‘defeating conditions’, which were summarised in WAM’s 
ASX announcement dated 8 November 2017: Proposed Off-Market Takeover Bid for Molopo Energy Limited 
(ASX:MPO). 

On 4 January 2018, WAM announced the withdrawal of their proposed bid on account of Molopo’s 11 
December 2017 ASX Announcement (Update on Orient FRC Ltd Investment) triggering the ‘no material 
transactions’ defeating condition. 

Takeovers Panel Proceedings - Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 and 12R 

On 30 July 2018, the Takeovers Panel published its Final Reasons in the matter of Molopo Energy Limited 
10 & 1131, a summary of which is as follows: 

• The Panel found that Molopo’s failure to disclose certain transactions and events in accordance with
its disclosure obligations meant that the acquisition of control over voting shares in Molopo has not
taken place in an efficient, competitive and informed market.  In addition, by virtue of Molopo taking
those actions, Aurora’s bid may be withdrawn or lapse in circumstances where Molopo shareholders
were not offered a choice between those actions and Aurora’s bid.  The Panel made compensation
and costs orders in favour of Aurora.

• The Panel was “very troubled by the serious disclosure failures of Molopo over an extended period of
time and during a takeover period when greater care is required in a target’s communications with
shareholders”.

• In the Panel’s view, “there has been a blatant disregard of Molopo’s disclosure obligations by the
Former Directors” (being Messrs Baljit Johal, Matthew Cudmore and Richard Matthews who were all
removed as Directors at Molopo’s AGM held on 31 May 201814).

• The Panel identified an extensive list of concerns and questions regarding the conduct of Molopo and
its former directors in relation to the Orient and Drawbridge Transactions including:

(a) “the reasons why Molopo’s board repeatedly chose not to disclose material transactions and
events to Molopo shareholders”;

(b) the then Molopo Board’s approval of the Orient Transaction announced in July 2017 and
subsequent loan transactions (including the intended purpose and actual use of the loan funds);

(c) the limited due diligence undertaken by Molopo on the Orient / Drawbridge Transactions,
including counterparty due diligence and Molopo’s limited access to information on Drawbridge
before and after the Drawbridge Transaction;

(d) the decision of the Former Directors not to obtain any independent valuations regarding the
Drawbridge Transaction;

(e) the reasons why Gil Feiler did not match Molopo’s US$4.5 million loan to Orient and why this
outstanding contribution was not factored into the US$7 million paid to Gil Feiler’s special
purpose vehicle to buy back his 50% interest in Orient; and

(f) “the reasons why Molopo considered it appropriate to make a total payment of US$14 million
for Orient in circumstances where the total consideration payable by Orient for its co-investment
in the Orient Project with Kerogen had only been US$2 million (of which US$1 million was
payable in two installments [sic] due on 1 July 2017 and 1 September 2017)”.

31  Refer Takeovers Panel Reasons for Decision in Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 [2018] ATP 12 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/WAM
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
http://www.molopoenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/2017_orient_funding_update.pdf
https://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Reasons_For_Decisions/2018/downloads/2018-ATP-012.pdf
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• The Panel proposes to “make a referral to ASIC to consider potential breaches of directors duties by
the Former Directors, as well as other matters, including the genuineness of the transactions”.

• The Panel also identified “concerns regarding Molopo’s requests for withholding information from
parties and the redaction of information in documents received under subpoena in this proceeding
(before the Directors Replacement) and Molopo Energy Limited 09[32]” and the Panel proposes to
“make a referral to ASIC to investigate whether one or more of the Former Directors breached section
199(1) or 200(1)(a) of the Australian Securities and Investment Commission Act 2001 (Cth) in relation
to this proceeding and/or Molopo Energy Limited 09, including whether any written submissions given
to the Panel (and ASIC) gave information or evidence that “is false or misleading in a material
particular””.

On 20 July 2018, Molopo applied for a review of the Panel’s decision on final orders in Molopo Energy Limited 
10 & 1133 (which Keybridge supports).  

By way of background: 

(a) On 8 June 2018, the Panel announced that it had made a declaration of unacceptable circumstances
in relation to the affairs of Molopo arising out of, inter alia, the Orient19 and Drawbridge17,18 Transactions
including that34:

(i) Molopo shareholders have not been given enough information to enable them to assess the
merits of AFARF’s takeover bid35 and have not had a reasonable and equal opportunity to
participate in any benefits accruing under the bid; and

(ii) The Former Directors by their action, including such action which may contribute to AFARF’s
bid not proceeding, have not given Molopo shareholders a reasonable and equal opportunity to
participate in any benefits accruing under the bid.

(b) On 18 July 2018, the Panel announced its final orders requiring Molopo to pay Aurora compensation
in relation to certain of Aurora’s bid costs and Aurora’s costs in relation to the Panel proceedings
(totalling $70,581.66).36

For further details, refer to the following publications released by the Takeovers Panel (available from their 
website - https://www.takeovers.gov.au/): 

• 8 June 2018 Media Release TP18/42: Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 – Declaration of Unacceptable
Circumstances;

• 18 July 2018 Media Release TP18/53: Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 – Orders; and

• 30 July 2018 Reasons for Decision in Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 [2018] ATP 12.

32  Refer Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP17/60 dated 8 December 2017: Molopo Energy Limited 09 – Panel Declines to Make Declaration 
33  Refer Takeovers Panel Media Releases No. TP18/54 dated 20 July 2018: Molopo Energy Limited 12R – Panel Receives Review Application 
34  Refer Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP18/42 dated 8 June 2018: Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 – Declaration of Unacceptable Circumstances 
35  Aurora Funds Management Limited (Aurora or AFML) (as Responsible Entity of the Aurora Absolute Return Fund (ASX:ABW), Aurora Global Income Trust (ASX:AIB) and 

unlisted Aurora Fortitude Absolute Return Fund (AFARF)) has launched a cash and/or scrip takeover bid for Molopo at $0.135 per share, which is currently scheduled to close 
on 20 August 2018.  Refer AFARF’s ASX announcements dated 26 October 2017: Bidder’s Statement and 12 June 2018: Notice of Variation of MPO Bid and MPO’s ASX 
announcements dated 28 November 2017: Target’s Statement, 19 January 2018: Supplementary Target’s Statement, 19 March 2018: Second Supplementary Target’s 
Statement and 28 May 2018: Third Supplementary Target’s Statement 

36  Refer Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP18/53 dated 18 July 2018: Molopo Energy Limited 10 & 11 – Orders 

https://www.takeovers.gov.au/
https://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-60.pdf
https://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2018/downloads/MR18-54.pdf
https://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/DisplayDoc.aspx?doc=media_releases/2018/042.htm&pageID=&Year=
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/ABW
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/AIB
https://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2018/downloads/MR18-53.pdf
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Victorian Supreme Court Litigation 

On 18 July 2018, in relation to Keybridge’s proceeding against Molopo and Messrs Baljit Johal, Richard 
Matthews and Matthew Cudmore37 (being former Molopo Directors who were all removed as Directors at 
Molopo’s AGM held on 31 May 2018), vis a vis, amongst other matters, oppression of Molopo shareholders 
and false and misleading conduct, the Court ordered by minutes of consent orders (agreed by all parties to 
the proceedings) that: 

• Molopo replace Keybridge as a Plaintiff to the proceeding38;

• Molopo file and serve an amended originating process and statement of claim against the Defendants
(Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore) by 10 August 2018;

• The  Defendants file and serve their defences by 7 September 2018; and

• The matter be next considered at a directions hearing on 14 September 2018.

By way of background, on 30 May 2018, Keybridge commenced legal action seeking a number of declarations 
and orders against Molopo and Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore on the basis of, amongst other matters, 
oppression by Molopo of its shareholders, false and misleading conduct by Molopo and Messrs Johal, 
Matthews and Cudmore, and breaches by Molopo of the ASX Listing Rules.37 

On 19 July 2018, in relation to Keybridge’s proceeding against Molopo39 to seek further information vis a vis 
the Orient Transaction, the matter was dismissed by minutes of consent orders (agreed with Molopo) with no 
order as to costs.   

On 24 August 2018, in relation to Keybridge’s proceeding against Molopo and former Molopo Director, 
Ronnen Rosengart,40 vis a vis, amongst other matters, oppression of Molopo shareholders, the Court ordered 
that the proceeding be dismissed with the parties’ costs reserved to the Trial Judge in the matter of Molopo 
against Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore38. 

By way of background, Keybridge commenced legal action in September 2017 against Molopo in what it 
believes to be in the interests of all Molopo shareholders seeking, amongst other matters: 

• Further information in relation to a number of matters including the Orient Transaction, the financial
status and technical capacity of Orient and the conduct of the Molopo Board in the management and
administration of Molopo – refer Keybridge ASX announcement dated 11 September 2017:
Commencement of Legal Action Against Molopo Energy Limited to Access Information; and

• A number of orders against Molopo and a then Molopo Director (Ronnen Rosengart, who has since
resigned) on the basis of oppression by Molopo of its shareholders and breaches by Molopo of the
ASX Listing Rules – refer Keybridge ASX announcement dated 15 September 2017: Commencement
of Further Legal Proceedings Against MPO and Ronnen Rosengart.

Keybridge’s involvement in the Victorian Supreme Court litigation is therefore now at an end. 

Keybridge and Molopo have also agreed that in relation to the proceeding38,41 where Molopo has replaced 
Keybridge as Plaintiff, Keybridge’s costs (to be agreed by the parties or as determined by a cost assessor) 
will be paid out of any funds recovered by Molopo from any source. 

In this regard, Keybridge notes that: 

• $692,788 of Keybridge’s Corporate expenses (totalling $1,658,826) was attributable to Molopo
related matters incurred during the financial year;

• $616,227 of these expenses were in turn, attributable to legal costs; and

• Approximately $400k of costs were attributable to the Supreme Court proceeding, which are
potentially recoverable from Molopo, as outlined above.

37  Keybridge Capital Limited v. Molopo Energy Limited & Ronnen Rosengart, Supreme Court of Victoria Proceedings S ECI 2018 00120  
38  Now known as Molopo Energy Limited v. Baljit Singh Johal, Richard Matthews and Matthew Edward Cudmore, Supreme Court of Victoria Proceedings S ECI 2018 00120  
39  Keybridge Capital Limited v. Molopo Energy Limited & Ronnen Rosengart, Supreme Court of Victoria Proceedings SCI 2017 04750  
40  Keybridge Capital Limited v. Molopo Energy Limited & Ronnen Rosengart, Supreme Court of Victoria Proceedings SCI 2017 04752 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01894580
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01894580
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01896964
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01896964
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Also on 24 August 2018, in relation to Molopo’s proceeding against Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore38 
(which was originally initiated by Keybridge37), the Court ordered that: 

• Ronnen Rosengart be joined as a Defendant alongside Messrs Johal, Matthews and Cudmore41; and

• Molopo file and serve an amended originating process and statement of claim against the Defendants
by 27 August 2018;

• The Defendants file and serve their defences by 5 October 2018; and

• The matter be next considered at a directions hearing on 12 October 2018.

Takeovers Panel Matter: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R 

(a) Vested Molopo Shares

On 7 July 2017, 3,666,285 shares in MPO were vested in the Commonwealth (on trust for Keybridge) under 
the declaration and orders of the Panel in the matter of Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R.42, These 
shares will be sold by ASIC with the proceeds of sale accounted to Keybridge (net of the costs, fees and 
expenses of the sale and any costs, fees and expenses incurred by ASIC and the Commonwealth (if any)). 
Keybridge remains the second largest shareholder in MPO with 46,017,543 shares (18.478%)43.   

As these vested 3.67 million MPO shares are held on trust for Keybridge pending sale by ASIC, Keybridge 
continues to recognise the shares as company assets at the same carrying value per share as its holding of 
46 million MPO shares (i.e. 2.6 cents per share as at 30 June 2018), less an estimate (provisionally 2.5%) in 
respect of selling costs.  This has resulted in a provision for impairment expense of $0.369 million being 
recognised in respect of this 3.67 million parcel of MPO shares for the financial year. 

(b) Judicial Review

AFML has applied for a judicial review44 of the Panel’s decision in Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R.  
Keybridge has entered a submitting appearance in respect of this proceeding such that Keybridge will submit 
to any order that the Court may make in the proceeding.  This matter is scheduled to be heard in the Federal 
Court of Australia in Sydney on 22 and 23 October 2018. 

Investment in Metgasco Limited (ASX:MEL) 

Keybridge is the second largest shareholder in Metgasco with 36,437,345 shares held currently (9.32%45) 
and as at Balance Date (30 June 2017: 23,194,591 shares (5.82%)), which were acquired at an average cost 
of 3.23 cents per share (adjusted for the 2.5 cents per share ($0.58 million) return of capital received on 16 
November 2016).   

41  Now known as Molopo Energy Limited v. Baljit Singh Johal, Richard Matthews, Matthew Edward Cudmore and Ronnen Rosengart, Supreme Court of Victoria Proceedings S 
ECI 2018 00120  

42  Refer Takeovers Panel Reasons for Decision dated 22 August 2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R [2017] ATP 12; Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP17/37 
dated 10 July 2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R - Orders; Takeovers Panel Media Release No. TP17/34 dated 30 June 2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 
05R – Declaration of Unacceptable Circumstances 

43  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement 11 July 2017: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for MPO 
44  Refer AIB and ABW ASX Announcements dated 11 September 2017: AFARF, ABW and AIB – Takeovers Panel 03R, 04R & 05R andTakeovers Panel Media Release No. 

TP14/48 dated 15 September 2017: Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R – Application for Judicial Review 
45  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 27 August 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for MEL  

http://www.metgasco.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161107/pdf/43cpvyr66gg0sp.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161107/pdf/43cpvyr66gg0sp.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Reasons_For_Decisions/2017/downloads/012.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-37.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-34.pdf
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Media_Releases/2017/downloads/MR17-34.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170711/pdf/43kl0fwz4p6hy7.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170911/pdf/43m7k2jx0x3h5d.pdf
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Keybridge notes that HHY is also a major shareholder in Metgasco with 42,170,181 shares held currently 
(10.78%46) and as at Balance Date (30 June 2017: 19,085,580 shares and 4.79%). 

During the year, MEL shares traded on the ASX within a range of 4 (in July 2017) to 7 (in February 2018) 
cents with a closing price of 6 cents (and $23.66 million market capitalisation) as at 30 June 2018 and a 
current closing price of 5.5 cents (as at 29 August 2018). 

The Metgasco investment generated a $0.529 million unrealised gain for the year. 

Based on Metgasco’s ASX Announcements including its recent June 2018 Quarterly Activities Report (lodged 
on ASX on 31 July 201847): 

• Metgasco had cash reserves of $6.778 million as at 30 June 2018,

• Metgasco has issued a convertible note48 to Byron Energy Limited (ASX:BYE) secured49 over Byron’s
assets (principally located in the Gulf of Mexico) - the note was originally $8 million and Byron has
repaid $4 million to date; $1 million quarterly instalments are due from Byron until the note has been
repaid in full in July 2019;

• Metgasco holds 37,897,000 shares (5.77%50) in BYE (acquired under a share placement at a cost of
7 cents each) and 10 million options over BYE shares (with an exercise price of 25 cents per share
and expiring on 24 June 2019).  The BYE share price was 35.5 cents as at 30 June 2018 and 29 cents
as at 29 August 2018;

• Metgasco has interests in the following oil and gas projects:

(a) A farm-in (10% working) interest in Byron’s Bivouac Peak Littoral Louisiana Oil & Gas Project
(Gulf of Mexico).  MEL has elected to participate in the drilling of Weiss-Adler et al No. 1 well,
which commenced drilling on 25 August 2018, at a capped cost of US$1.333 million. 51

(b) A farm-in (30% working) interest in Byron’s South Marsh Island Block 74 (Gulf of Mexico), with
an initial test well expected to be drilled in November 2018.  MEL will fund 40% of the costs in
this regard. 52

(c) Petroleum and gas exploration rights (Authority to Prospect ATP’s 2020 and 2021) in the Cooper
and Eromanga basins in Queensland.53

(d) a farm-in (20% working) interest54, alongside joint venture partners, Senex Energy Limited
(ASX:SXY) and Copper Energy Limited (ASX:COE), in the Frey-1 Well Area within Petroleum
Retention Lease PRL 93 in the South Australian Cooper Basin.  The joint venture plugged and
abandoned an oil exploration well in September 2017; a MEL has completed its earn-in via
meeting its share of the costs - $684,400.

Keybridge’s Chairman, John Patton, was appointed to the Metgasco Board on 19 September 2016. 

Information concerning Metgasco may be viewed on its website: www.metgasco.com.au.    

46  Reflects purchases made and changes to MEL issued share capital since the HHY’s ASX Announcement dated 18 January 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for 
MEL 

47  Refer MEL’s June 2018 Quarterly Activities Report and Cashflow Report both dated and released on ASX on 31 July 2018 
48  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcement dated 23 January 2017: Byron Subscription Notice Received 
49  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcement dated 22 July 2016: Execution of Convertible Note and General Security Deeds 
50  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcements dated 14 August 2017: Metgasco Elects to Participate in Byron Energy Equity Issuance and 3 October 2017: Becoming a Substantial Holder 

for BYE 
51  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcement dated 27 August 2018:  Bivuoac Peak First Well: Drilling Operations Commence 
52  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcement dated 19 July 2018: Metgasco Farms-In to South Marsh Island 74: Initial Test Well to be Drilled in October 2018 
53  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcement dated 29 May 2018: Grant of Cooper Basin ATP 2021 and ATP 2020 By Queensland Government 
54  Refer MEL’s ASX Announcements dated 26 September 2017: Metgasco Invests into Frey-1 Cooper Basin Exploration Well and 4 October 2017: Frey-1 Well Plugged and 

Abandoned 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/BYE
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/SXY
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/COE
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160919/pdf/43b8x2gljfly9p.pdf
http://www.metgasco.com.au/
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01942247
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01942247
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02004708
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02004709
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170123/pdf/43fgf4rylpprm9.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160722/pdf/438r1pg1pj82jc.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170814/pdf/43lcx363lncbfj.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01903538
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01903538
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180827/pdf/43xpxpghysxtpm.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180719/pdf/43wmvxkvvrxf4m.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180529/pdf/43vd2vf3y1t1ym.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20170926/pdf/43mmmpkjmfw7b2.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171004/pdf/43my3j16gy5yqt.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171004/pdf/43my3j16gy5yqt.pdf
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Investment in Yowie Group Ltd (ASX:YOW) 

During the year, Keybridge acquired 7,887,471 shares (3.66%55) in YOW at an average cost of 11.05 cents 
per share.   

Keybridge notes that HHY is also a major shareholder in YOW with 26,526,643 shares (12.32%56) acquired 
in January and February 2018. 

During the year, YOW shares traded on the ASX within a range of 35.5 (in July 2017) to 6.6 (in May 2018) 
cents with a closing price of 6.8 cents (and $14.74 million market capitalisation) as at 30 June 2018 and a 
current closing price of 9 cents (as at 29 August 2018). 

The Yowie investment generated a $0.354 million unrealised loss for the year. 

Yowie Group is a global brand licensing company, specialising in the development of consumer products 
designed to promote learning, understanding and engagement with the natural world through the adventures 
and exploits of Yowie characters.  Yowie Group employs its intellectual property rights to supply Yowie 
branded chocolate confectionery product, a digital platform and Yowie branded licensed consumer products. 
Yowie’s vision for the Yowie brand is to distribute on a widening basis the Yowie product in the US, Australia 
and New Zealand with further international expansion.57 

On 8 August 2018, AFML as Responsible Entity of HYY requisitioned a general meeting of YOW shareholders 
to seek the removal of YOW Chairman, Louis Carroll, as a director.  This General Meeting will be held on 8 
October 2018, which YOW has advised will be held immediately after the close of YOW’s 2018 AGM being 
held on the same day. 

For further details, refer to YOW’s announcements as follows: 

• 6 August 2018: Receipt of Notice of Intention to Move Resolution - Section 249N Notice and Section
203D Notice;

• 10 August 2018: Receipt of Notice Under Section 249D; and

• 29 August 2018: Notice of General Meeting and Proxy Form.

Keybridge Director, William Johnson, was appointed to the Yowie Board on 10 April 201858. 

Information concerning Yowie Group may be viewed on its website: www.yowiegroup.com.   

Yowie Group’s market announcements may also be viewed from the ASX website (www.asx.com.au) under 
ASX code “YOW”. 

Loan Receivables – Infrastructure 

On 30 April 201859, Keybridge announced the sale of the Totana Solar Plant assets in Spain to Eliantus 
Energy for total consideration of A$8.32 million (€5.2 million), with A$8 million (€5 million) paid upfront and 
A$0.32 million (€0.2 million) payable in 18 months.60   

The initial A$8 million proceeds of sale have been repatriated to Keybridge (in Australia) as part of the 
repayment of various loans owed to Keybridge (with a carrying value of A$6.353 million as at 31 March 
201861) by the corporate entities (originally set up by Keybridge for this purpose) which held the Totana Solar 
Plant assets.  As a consequence, no tax is payable on the sale proceeds. 

55  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 19 February 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for YOW 
56  Refer HHY ASX Announcements dated 8 August 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for YOW and 19 February 2018: Change of Substantial Holder Notice for YOW 
57  Refer YOW’s 2018 Annual Report released on ASX on 27 August 2018 
58  Refer YOW’s ASX Announcement dated 10 April 2018: Appointment of Non-Executive Director  
59  Refer KBC’s ASX announcement dated 30 April 2018: Sale of Totana Plant Assets 
60  Based on an exchange rate of A$1.00 :  €0.625  
61  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 13 April 2018: Net Asset Backing – March 2018  

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180806/pdf/43x36zwv0xf49s.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180810/pdf/43x7n7frl5rtl5.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02015871
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01969635
http://www.yowiegroup.com/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180219/pdf/43rpwyljcjqkp0.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180808/pdf/43x5kjs2lcgq95.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01952120
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=02014179
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180410/pdf/43t2nb4dz4f1fx.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180430/pdf/43tlcdm0ykx6c1.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01971212
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Keybridge generated an overall net gain of $1.737 million from the sale of the Totana Solar Plant assets, the 
repayment/discharge of various loans owed to Keybridge by the corporate entities which held Totana and the 
consolidation of the corporate ownership structure vis a vis Totana. 

During the year (to completion of the Totana sale on 27 April 2018), Keybridge also received €0.675 million 
(~A$1.034 million) in cash loan repayments.   

Contemporaneously with the completion of the sale of Totana and the repayment of the loans, the Company 
has also consolidated the corporate ownership structure (referred to above).  The Totana assets were owned 
by BIC Europe Limited (BIC Europe).  BIC Europe was jointly owned by Keybridge and Global Capital 
Finance LLC (GCF).  Upon the completion of the Totana transaction, GCF has agreed to exit its position and 
BIC Europe is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Keybridge.  

By way of background: 

• In 2007/2008, Keybridge financed the development and construction of the Totana ~1.05MWp Solar
Photovoltaic Park in the Murcia region in southern Spain.

• The development was part of a plan by Keybridge to develop a portfolio of European energy
infrastructure assets, taking advantage of the attractive (at that time) regulatory environment in Spain
for such assets.  However, soon after the Totana Solar Plant was completed, the Spanish Government
changed the regulation applicable to solar plants and because of this, that plan was no longer regarded
as feasible and no further energy infrastructure investments were made by Keybridge in Europe.

• Whilst the Totana Solar Plant had consistently generated positive cashflows for Keybridge since it was
commissioned, the Keybridge Board decided in 2017 that maintaining a single, relatively small solar
plant in Europe was not a strategic investment for the Company and so determined to sell the plant.
Several interested parties were identified and invited to participate in a competitive bidding process,
which was ultimately secured by Eliantus Energy.

• The Totana Solar Plant assets are held in Spanish corporate entities (SPVs), which are, in turn, owned
by BIC Europe.

• BIC Europe was regarded as a jointly controlled entity owned 50:50 by Keybridge’s Australian
subsidiary, BIC Infrastructure Capital Pty Limited (BIC Australia), and GCF.  BIC Europe had been
accounted for by Keybridge under the equity method but the investment had been previously impaired
to a nil carrying value.

• Historically, finance was provided by Keybridge to BIC Australia to BIC Europe to the SPVs via a series
of loans to fund the development of the project.

• On 23 April 2018, BIC Europe (the Seller) entered into a Share Purchase and Assignment of Intragroup 
Loans Agreement (SPA) with Eliantus Energy PV II, S.L (Buyer) and Eliantus Energy, S.L (Guarantor)
pursuant to which, inter alia:

(a) The Seller transferred 100% of its shareholding in the SPVs to the Buyer;

(b) The Seller assigned 100% of the loan agreements with the SPVs to the Buyer (Intragroup
Loans);

(c) The Buyer paid the Seller a Purchase Price of €5.2m with €27,054 allocated towards the price
in respect of the shares in the SPVs and the balance of €5,172,946 allocated towards the
principal and accrued interest due under the Intragroup Loans;

(d) The Buyer paid the Seller €5m upon execution of the SPA – these funds have been repatriated
to Keybridge as repayment/discharge of the loans owed by BIC Europe to BIC
Australia/Keybridge;

(e) A Deferred Payment of €200k is payable by the Buyer 18 months after the execution date –
this has been recognised by Keybridge as a consideration receivable asset; and

(f) Security for the Deferred Payment is a Guarantee provided by the Guarantor, which is the parent
company of the Buyer.
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Loan Receivables and Equity – Insurance 

In September 2014, Keybridge invested NZ$3.8 million (A$3.4 million) (via NZ$0.109 million (10.13%) equity 
and NZ$3.691 million notes) into Foundation Life to finance Foundation’s acquisition of Tower Limited’s life 
insurance business in New Zealand.   

Interest of 9% pa is payable under the note, which is redeemable by noteholders in 50 years (May 2064) 
(which was amended from 10 years (May 2024) in September 2017 at the request of Foundation) or by 
Foundation (from time to time).   

Keybridge received a NZ$0.109 million equity (A$0.105 million) return of capital distribution in March 2015, 
which (for accounting purposes) reduced the carrying value of this 10.13% equity component to nil.  With 
effect as at the previous (30 June 2017) balance date, the Directors have revalued this equity investment at 
cost of NZ$0.109 million equity (A$0.103 million), which is supported by the underlying value of Foundation 
Life. 

During the year, Keybridge earned NZ$0.306 million (A$0.282 million) interest income and received cash 
distributions of NZ$0.301 million (A$0.277 million) from Foundation.   

As at 30 June 2018, the loan balance was NZ$3.418m (A$3.135m) (30 June 2017: NZ$3.412 million and 
A$3.250 million) and Keybridge retains its 10.13% equity interest in Foundation Life valued at A$0.103 million. 

Loan Receivables - Private Equity 

Keybridge holds a US$4.3 million limited recourse promissory note (Note) issued by RPE I Investor LLC (RPE 
Investor) (a subsidiary of Republic Financial Corporation (RPC)), a US private investment company) secured 
(via collateral pledged) over RPE Investor’s ~50% Limited Partners’ (contributed capital) interest in the 
Republic Private Equity I Limited Liability Limited Partnership, a private equity fund (managed by a related 
party to RPC) with investments in US-based manufacturing/distribution businesses (RPE Fund). 

By way of background, the Note arose out of a restructure in April 2013 where, as part of arrangements to 
exit legacy aviation investments62, Keybridge restructured its participation in a US closed-end private equity 
fund which was managed by RPC, which also managed the aviation investment.63 

Under the April 2013 restructure: 

• Keybridge received US$29.7 million cash from the sale of the Company’s remaining aircraft
investments; and

• Keybridge sold its private equity asset to RPC for US$4.3 million fully funded by a Keybridge loan with
recourse only to the asset sold (ie. the Note) - no cash was derived from this transaction.

Keybridge notes that none of the current Board members were involved in the above RPC related restructure. 

The principal and accrued interest (at 14.5% pa) under the Note was repayable on maturity on 29 December 
2017 (which is capable of extension/re-finance by mutual agreement of the parties).   

On 24 August 2017, Keybridge received notice from an RPC Executive (Republic) advising that it was ‘highly 
unlikely that the Note would be satisfied on or before its scheduled maturity’ (on 29 December 2017) and 
proposing a 3-year extension of the Note term or a ‘buy-out’ (retirement) of the Note for US$0.394 million.   

In light of these matters, the Board reduced the carrying value of the Note (receivable) to US$0.394 million 
(A$0.511 million) as at 30 June 2017, with this value maintained at (30 June 2018) Balance Date and 
currently.  This impairment was advised in KBC’s ASX announcement dated 25 August 2017: Update – 
Private Equity Loan Receivable. 

62  Made whilst Keybridge was known as Mariner Bridge Investments Limited in 2006/2007 - refer 2007 Annual Report released on 24 October 2007 
63  Refer KBC’s ASX Announcements dated 1 May 2013: Sale of Aircraft and Full Repayment of Corporate Debt Facility and 10 April 2013: Quarterly Update – January to March 

2013 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140902/pdf/42ryb1647m0kct.pdf
http://www.foundationlife.co.nz/
http://republic-financial.com/
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130501/pdf/42fmqqb3k6c0lf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01888486
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01888486
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20071024/pdf/315b6xk8sjhx8q.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130501/pdf/42fmqqb3k6c0lf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130410/pdf/42f5m2kbrlvrds.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20130410/pdf/42f5m2kbrlvrds.pdf
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Since August 2017, Keybridge has also received alternative proposals from Republic to settle the Note 
liability.  As at the date of this report, Keybridge has not accepted Republic’s proposals and the parties are in 
on-going discussions in relation to a mutually acceptable resolution of this matter.  Additionally, Keybridge is 
also reviewing its rights under the Note to call upon the collateral pledged as security (ie. RPE Investor's 
interest in the RPE Fund). 

Loan Receivables – Property 

In September 2014, Keybridge took direct control of loans that were held in a fund (where Keybridge was the 
remaining sole lender) which invested in first ranking mortgage loans over commercial properties.   

Keybridge has registered mortgages over strata title lots comprising Conference Facilities at a Hotel located 
in Manly, Sydney as security for the loans, which are owed by private companies (which are in liquidation).   

As at 30 June 2018, the loan was carried at Directors’ valuation (net of impairments) of $0.885 million (30 
June 2017: $0.885 million) – this was based on an independent valuation received in respect of the lots in 
May 2016.  

The liquidator’s costs are being funded from income generated from the Conference Facilities. 

Other Loans and Receivables 

Keybridge has a number of legacy loan receivables due from various Australian and overseas entities (some 
of which are in liquidation or another form administration).  These loans have previously been impaired to nil 
and are not generally reflected in the Loans and Receivables table (above) or in Note 9 (Loans and 
Receivables) of the accompanying financial statements.  

As such, Keybridge has not historically commented on these Loans and Receivables unless there has been 
a material development such as the receipt of a material distribution/repayment or a settlement of a dispute 
with relevant parties. 

Keybridge continues to manage and monitor these Loans and Receivables as potential ‘assets’ in this regard. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of Keybridge that occurred during the financial year 
not otherwise disclosed in this Directors’ Report or the financial statements. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 

Keybridge intends to continue its investment activities in future years. The results of these investment 
activities depend upon the performance of the underlying investee entities/loan counterparties and securities 
in which Keybridge invests. The investments’ performances depend on many economic factors and also 
industry and investee/counterparty-specific issues. In the opinion of the Directors, it is not possible or 
appropriate to make a prediction on the future course of markets, the performance of Keybridge’s investments 
or forecast the likely results of Keybridge’s activities.   

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

Keybridge is not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under Australian 
Commonwealth or State legislation.   
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DIRECTORS 

JOHN D. PATTON Chairman 
Appointed 10 August 2016; Chairman since 13 October 2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 November 2016 

Qualifications B.Ec (Monash), CA (ICAA), F Fin

Experience John Patton is a senior executive with extensive finance experience in the corporate and 
professional services sectors.  Mr Patton was previously a Partner with Ernst & Young in the 
Transactions Advisory Services division.  With over 25 years of professional services and 
industry experience, Mr Patton has extensive corporate finance credentials, having been 
involved in over 150 corporate transactions, including mergers & acquisitions (lead advisory), 
structuring, debt and equity raisings, IPO’s, management buy-outs, valuations (including 
Independent Expert Reports), due diligence, financial modelling, restructuring and corporate 
advisory. 

In addition, Mr Patton held the positions of CFO, acting CEO and alternate director of the Epic 
Energy group, a major infrastructure owner of high-pressure gas transmission pipelines in 
Australia.  This business was the core asset within the ASX-listed Hastings Diversified Utilities 
Fund.  As a result, Mr Patton has solid hands-on operational experience with, and a strong 
appreciation of, the regulatory, commercial, financial, capital structure and external stakeholder 
management issues and requirements associated with major assets within an ASX-listed 
environment in Australia. 

Relevant interest in securities 150,000 – KBC shares64 
4,166 – KBCPA Convertible Redeemable Preference Notes 

Special Responsibilities Member of Investment Committee  
Member of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

Other current directorships in 
listed entities 

(1) Non-Executive Director of Metgasco Limited (ASX:MEL) (appointed 19 September 2016).
(2) Managing Director of Aurora Funds Management Limited, a Responsible Entity of HHY

Fund (ASX:HHY), Aurora Global Income Trust (ASX:AIB), Aurora Absolute Return
Fund (ASX:ABW), Aurora Property Buy-Write Income Trust (ASX:AUP), Aurora
Dividend Income Trust (ASX:AOD)

Former directorships in other 
listed entities in past 3 years 

None 

WILLIAM M. JOHNSON Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 29 July 2016 (elected by shareholders at a general meeting) 

Qualifications MA (Oxon), MBA, MAICD 

Experience William Johnson holds a Masters degree in engineering science from Oxford University, 
England and an MBA from Victoria University, New Zealand.  His 30-year business career 
spans multiple industries and countries, with executive/CEO experience in mineral exploration 
and investment (Australia, Peru, Chile, Saudi Arabia, Oman, North Africa and Indonesia), 
telecommunications infrastructure investment (New Zealand, India, Thailand and Malaysia) and 
information technology and Internet ventures (New Zealand, Philippines and Australia).  Mr 
Johnson is a highly-experienced public company director and has considerable depth of 
experience in corporate governance, business strategy and operations, investment analysis, 
finance and execution. 

Relevant interest in securities None 

Special Responsibilities Member of Investment Committee  
Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

Other current directorships in 
listed entities 

(1) Managing Director of Strike Resources Limited (ASX:SRK) (since 25 March 2013; Director
since 14 July 2006).

(2) Executive Director of Bentley Capital Limited (ASX:BEL) (since 1 January 2016; Director
since 13 March 2009).

(3) Non-Executive Director of Yowie Group Ltd (ASX:YOW) (appointed 10 April 2018).
(4) Non-Executive Director of Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO) (elected 31 May 2018).

Former directorships in other 
listed entities in past 3 years 

None

64  Refer John Patton’s Initial Director’s Interest Notice dated 10 August 2016 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160810/pdf/43972kxhn7747d.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161021/pdf/43c5gyr1pgv6pz.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161123/pdf/43d4nr1573k5hn.pdf
http://www.metgasco.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MEL
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/HHY
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/AIB
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/ABW
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/AOD
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160607/pdf/437rbb3cb8rfqf.pdf
http://www.strikeresources.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/SRK
http://www.bel.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/BEL
http://www.yowiegroup.com/
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/YOW
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/MPO
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01987195
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160810/pdf/43972mrtvlff5k.pdf
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SIMON K. CATO  Non-Executive Director 
Appointed  29 July 2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 November 2017 

Qualifications B.A. (Sydney)

Experience  Simon Cato has had over 30 years’ capital markets experience in broking, regulatory roles (with 
ASX in Sydney and Perth) and as a director of listed companies.  From 1991 until 2006, he was 
an executive director and/or responsible executive of three stockbroking firms.  During that time, 
Mr Cato was involved in the formation of a number of companies, including writing prospectuses 
and managing the listing process and has been through the process of IPO listing in the dual 
role of broker and director.  Since 2006, Mr Cato has been an executive and non-executive 
director of a number of public listed companies with a range of different business activities and 
was a founding director of Greenland Minerals and Energy Limited. 

Relevant interest in securities  None 

Special Responsibilities  Chairman of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 
Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

Other current directorships in 
listed entities 

(1) Non-Executive Chairman of Advanced Share Registry Limited (ASX:ASW) (since 22
August 2007).

(2) Non-Executive Director of Greenland Minerals and Energy Limited (ASX:GGG) (since 21
February 2006).

(3) Non-Executive Director of Bentley Capital  Limited (ASX:BEL) (since 7 January 2015; also
February 2004 to April 2010).

Former directorships in other 
listed entities in past 3 years 

 None 

JEREMY M. KRIEWALDT  Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 13 October 2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 November 2016 

Qualifications BA (Hons), LLM (Hons) (Sydney) 

Experience Jeremy Kriewaldt is a lawyer in private practice, specialising in corporate and commercial law, 
including mergers and acquisitions, capital raisings and foreign investment, financial product 
development and securities markets.  He started his own practice in 2018 and was previously 
a partner of Atanaskovic Hartnell (2004 - 2018), Blake Dawson Waldron (now Ashurst) (1990 
– 2003) and also served as Counsel to the Takeovers Panel in 2003 - 2004.

Relevant interest in securities 5,000 – KBC shares65 
1,138 – KBCPA Convertible Redeemable Preference Notes 

Special Responsibilities Chairman of Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
Member of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee  

Other current directorships in 
listed entities 

None 

Former directorships in other 
listed entities in past 3 years 

None 

At the Company’s 2017 Annual General Meeting (AGM), Simon Cato retired as a Director pursuant to the 
Company’s Constitution and was re-elected a Director.66 

65  Refer Jeremy Kriewaldt’s Initial Director’s Interest Notice dated 13 October 2016 
66  Refer KBC’s Notice of AGM released on ASX on 24 October 2017 and ASX announcement dated 23 November 2017: Results of 2017 Annual General Meeting 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171024/pdf/43njgm8rf995xb.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171123/pdf/43pjhv0sqrmxf5.pdf
http://www.advancedshare.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/ASW
http://www.ggg.gl/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/GGG
http://www.bel.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/BEL
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161021/pdf/43c5gyr1pgv6pz.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161123/pdf/43d4nr1573k5hn.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byyp17th1sy2.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01911861
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171123/pdf/43pjhv0sqrmxf5.pdf
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COMPANY SECRETARY 

VICTOR P. H. HO  Company Secretary 
Appointed  13 October 2016 

Qualifications  BCom, LLB (Western Australia), CTA 

Experience  Victor Ho has been in Executive roles with a number of ASX-listed companies across the 
investments, resources and technology sectors over the past 18+ years.  Mr Ho is a Chartered 
Tax Adviser (CTA) and previously had 9 years’ experience in the taxation profession with the 
Australian Tax Office (ATO) and in a specialist tax law firm.  Mr Ho has been actively involved 
in the investment management of listed investment companies (as an Executive Director and/or 
a member of the Investment Committee), the structuring and execution of a number of 
corporate, M&A and international joint venture (in South America, Indonesia and the Middle 
East) transactions, capital raisings and capital management initiatives and has extensive 
experience in public company administration, corporations’ law and stock exchange compliance 
and investor/shareholder relations.   

Relevant interest in securities   None 

Other current positions in 
listed entities 

 Executive Director and Company Secretary of: 
(1) Orion Equities Limited (ASX:OEQ) (Secretary since 2 August 2000 and Director since 4

July 2003).
(2) Queste Communications Ltd (ASX:QUE) (Secretary since 30 August 2000 and Director

since 3 April 2013).
(3) Strike Resources Limited (ASX:SRK) (Director since 24 January 2014 and Company

Secretary since 1 October 2015).
Company Secretary of Bentley Capital Limited (ASX:BEL) (since 5 February 2004). 

Former position in other listed 
entities in past 3 years 

 Company Secretary of Alara Resources Limited (ASX:AUQ) (4 April 2007 to 31 August 2015). 

DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 

The following table sets out the numbers of meetings of the Company's Directors held during the year 
(excluding Directors’ circulatory resolutions) and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director of the 
Company: 

Name of 
Director 

Board 
Audit, Risk and Finance 

Committee 
Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee 

Attended 
Max. Possible 

Meetings Attended 
Max. Possible 

Meetings Attended 
Max. Possible 

Meetings 
John Patton 16 16(a) 2 2 - - 
William 
Johnson 

14 14(b) - - - - 

Simon Cato 17 17 2 2 - - 
Jeremy 
Kriewaldt 

16 17 2 2 - - 

Notes:  
(a) John Patton did not attend one Board meeting during the year due to a matter of conflict/exclusion
(b) William Johnson did not attend 3 Board meetings during the year due to a matter of conflict/exclusion 

Audit, Risk and Finance Committee (ARFC) 

The composition of the ARFC is Simon Cato (as Chairman), Jeremy Kriewaldt and John Patton.  The 
ARFC has a formal charter to prescribe its objectives, responsibilities (in the areas of external financial 
reporting, risk management and control, external audit, code of conduct, insurances, complaints 
handling and related party transactions), composition, access and other administrative matters.  A copy 
of the ARFC Charter may be downloaded from the Company’s website: 
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC) 

The composition of the RNC is Jeremy Kriewaldt (as Chairman), Simon Cato and William Johnson.  A 
copy of the RNC Charter may also be downloaded from the Company’s website. 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/OEQ
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/QUE
http://www.strikeresources.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/SRK
http://www.bel.com.au/
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/BEL
http://www.alararesources.com/IRM/content/default.aspx
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/AUQ
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php
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This Remuneration Report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director and Company 
Executive (being a company secretary or senior manager) (Key Management Personnel or KMP) of the 
Company.   

The information provided under headings (1) to (8) below has been audited for compliance with section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) as required under section 308(3C). 

(1) Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Name Position Tenure 

John Patton Chairman and 
Company Executive 

Appointed Director on 10 August 2016; appointed Chairman on 13 October 
2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 November 2016 

William Johnson Non-Executive Director Elected at general meeting on 29 July 2016 

Simon Cato Non-Executive Director Elected at general meeting on 29 July 2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 
November 2017 

Jeremy Kriewaldt Non-Executive Director Appointed 13 October 2016; re-elected at AGM on 23 November 2016 

Victor Ho Company Secretary Appointed 13 October 2016 

(2) Remuneration Policy

The Board (with guidance from the Remuneration and Nomination Committee) determines the
remuneration structure of all Key Management Personnel having regard to Keybridge’s strategic
objectives, scale and scope of operations and other relevant factors, including experience and
qualifications, length of service, market practice (including available data concerning remuneration
paid by other listed companies and in particular, companies of comparable size and nature), the
frequency of Board meetings, the duties and accountability of Key Management Personnel and the
objective of maintaining a balanced Board which has appropriate expertise and experience, at a
reasonable cost to the Company.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC):  The RNC has a formal charter to prescribe
its objectives, the Company’s remuneration and nomination policies and practices, responsibilities (in
the areas of executive, senior management and non-executive director remuneration, recruitment and
termination, policy and procedure for appointing new directors, performance and education of
directors), composition, access and other administrative matters.  The objectives of the RNC include
assisting the Board to adopt and implement a remuneration system that has coherent remuneration
policies and practices to attract and retain executives and directors who will preserve value for
shareholders and that fairly and responsibly rewards executives having regard to the performance of
Keybridge, the performance of the executives and the general pay environment.  The RNC’s key
responsibilities in relation to remuneration include:

• reviewing, approving and recommending to the board for adoption executive remuneration and
incentive policies and practices;

• annually considering, approving and recommending to the board each executive director’s total
remuneration (including base pay, incentive awards, equity awards, retirement rights and terms
of engagement) having regard to executive remuneration and incentive policies

• reviewing and approving, on the recommendation of the managing director, the total
remuneration (including incentive awards, equity awards, retirement and termination rights),
terms of engagement and changes to the total remuneration and terms of employment of direct
reports to the managing director and other senior executives;

• recommending to the board for approval changes to the remuneration or terms of engagement
of executive directors before implementation;

• reviewing, approving and recommending to the board for adoption the design of any executive
incentive/equity-based plans, the total proposed payments from any executive incentive/equity
based plans, the proposed award to each executive under the rules of any plan and the
performance hurdles for any equity based plan;

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s300a.html
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s308.html
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160810/pdf/43972kxhn7747d.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161021/pdf/43c5gyr1pgv6pz.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161123/pdf/43d4nr1573k5hn.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160607/pdf/437rbb3cb8rfqf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160607/pdf/437rbb3cb8rfqf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171024/pdf/43njgm8rf995xb.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171123/pdf/43pjhv0sqrmxf5.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171123/pdf/43pjhv0sqrmxf5.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161021/pdf/43c5gyr1pgv6pz.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161123/pdf/43d4nr1573k5hn.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf


30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED 
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

ANNUAL REPORT | 29 

• reviewing the remuneration of non-executive directors for serving on the board or any committee
(both individually and in total) and recommending to the board the remuneration and retirement
policies for non-executive directors having regard to market trends and shareholder interests;

• annually reviewing the performance of the managing director and executive directors; and

• establishing processes for evaluating (and annually evaluating) the performance of the board,
both collectively and individually.

A copy of the RNC Charter may also be downloaded from the Company’s website: 
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php 

Corporate Governance Principles: The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement (CGS) also 
addresses matters pertaining to the Board, Senior Management and Remuneration.  The latest version 
of the CGS may be downloaded from the Company’s website: 
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php 

Fixed Cash Short-term Employment Benefits: The Key Management Personnel of the Company 
are paid a fixed amount per annum plus applicable employer superannuation contributions.  The Non-
Executive Directors of the Company are paid a maximum aggregate base remuneration of $525,00067 
per annum inclusive of employer superannuation contributions where applicable, to be divided as the 
Board determines appropriate.    

The Board has determined the following fixed cash remuneration for current Key Management 
Personnel during the year as follows: 

Executive Director 
(1) Mr John Patton (Chairman and Company Executive) – a base salary of $175,000 per

annum plus employer superannuation contributions; and

Non-Executive Directors 
(2) Mr Simon Cato - a base fee of $60,000 per annum plus employer superannuation

contributions;
(3) Mr William Johnson - a base fee of $60,000 per annum plus employer superannuation

contributions.
(4) Mr Jeremy Kriewaldt - a base fee of $60,000 per annum plus employer superannuation

contributions.

Company Executive/Senior Manager 
(5) Mr Victor Ho (Company Secretary) - a base fee of $150,000 per annum (excluding GST).

Special Exertions and Reimbursements: Pursuant to the Company’s Constitution, each Director is 
also entitled to receive: 

(a) Payment for reimbursement of all travelling and other expenses incurred by a Director in
attending to the Company’s affairs, including attending to meetings of the Company and the
Board or Committees; and

(b) Payment for the performance of extra services or the making of special exertions for the benefit
of the Company (with the concurrence of the Board).

Short-Term Benefits: The Company does not have any short-term incentive (STI) cash bonus 
schemes (or equivalent) in place for Key Management Personnel.   

Long-Term Benefits: The Company does not have any long-term incentive (LTI) cash bonus schemes 
(or equivalent) in place for Key Management Personnel.   

Equity-Based Benefits: Save for the Executive Share Plan (ESP) outlined below, the Company does 
not presently have any equity (shares or options) based remuneration arrangements for Key 
Management Personnel pursuant to any executive or employee share or option plan or otherwise.   

67  As approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 November 2007; refer KBC’s ASX announcement dated 24 October 2007:  Notice of Annual General 
Meeting and KBC’s ASX announcement dated 28 November 2007: Results of Annual General Meeting 

http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20071024/pdf/315b6qryv1sz75.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20071024/pdf/315b6qryv1sz75.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20071128/pdf/3163k96rx46ynt.pdf
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Post-Employment Benefits: The Company does not presently provide retirement benefits to Key 
Management Personnel.  Other than early termination benefits disclosed in ‘Employment Agreement’ 
below, Key Management Personnel also have no right to termination payments save for payment of 
accrued unused annual and long service leave (where applicable) (these accrued employee 
entitlements are not applicable in respect of Non-Executive Directors).  The Company notes that 
shareholder approval is required where a Company proposes to make a “termination payment” (for 
example, a payment in lieu of notice, a payment for a post-employment restraint and payments made 
as a result of the automatic or accelerated vesting of share based payments) in excess of one year’s 
“base salary” (defined as the average base salary over the previous 3 years) to a director or any person 
who holds a managerial or executive office. 

Performance-Related Benefits and Financial Performance of Company: The current remuneration 
of Key Management Personnel is fixed, is not dependent on the satisfaction of a performance condition 
and is unrelated to the Company’s performance. 

In considering the Company's performance and its effects on shareholder wealth, Directors have had 
regard to the data set out below for the latest financial year and the previous four financial years: 

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 
Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax ($’000) (6.805) (6,446) 2,779 1,140 (2,791) 
Profit/(Loss) After Income Tax ($’000) (6.805) (6,446) (2,491) 968 (2,942) 
Basic Earnings/(Loss) per share (cents) (4.30) (4.06) (1.42) 0.61 (1.74) 
Total Dividends Paid ($’000) 790 - 795 434 - 

Dividends Paid (cent per share) 0.5 - 0.5 0.25 - 
Total Capital Returns Paid ($’000) - - - 4,426 - 

Capital Returns Paid (cents per share) - - - 2.78 - 
VWAP Share Price on ASX for financial year ($) 0.089 0.14 0.174 0.184 0.175 
Closing (Last Bid) Share Price on ASX as at 30 June ($) 0.079 0.10 0.155 0.175 0.18 

(3) Details of Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Details of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of each Key Management Personnel
paid or payable by the Company during the financial year are as follows:

2018 

Key 
Management 
Personnel 

Performance- 
related 

Short-term Benefits 

Post- 
Employment 

Benefits 
Other Long-

term Benefits 
Equity- 
Based 

Cash salary 
and fees 

Non-cash 
benefit Superannuation 

Long service 
leave 

Shares & 
options Total 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors: 
John Patton - 174,999 - 16,625 - - 191,624 
William Johnson - 60,000 - 5,700 - - 65,700 
Simon Cato - 60,000 - 5,700 - - 65,700 
Jeremy Kriewaldt - 60,000 - 5,700 - - 65,700 
Company Secretary: 
Victor Ho - 150,000 - - - - 150,000 

2017 

Key 
Management 
Personnel(a) 

Performance- 
related 

Short-term Benefits 

Post- 
Employment 

Benefits 
Other Long-

term Benefits 
Equity- 
Based 

Cash salary 
and fees 

Non-cash 
benefit Superannuation 

Long service 
leave 

Shares & 
options Total 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors: 
John Patton - 136,105 - 12,930 - - 149,035 
William Johnson - 55,425 - 5,265 - - 60,690 
Simon Cato - 55,425 - 5,265 - - 60,690 
Jeremy Kriewaldt - 43,123 - 4,097 - - 47,220 
Antony Sormann(b) - 203,490(c) - 9,808 - 14,269 227,567 
William (Bill) Brown(d) 22,192 - 2,108 - - 24,300 
Andrew Moffat(e) 29,414 - - - - 29,414 
Company Secretary: 
Victor Ho - 107,661 - - - - 107,661 
Ian Pamensky(f) 136,480 - - - - 136,480 
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Notes to 2018 and 2017 tables:  
(a) Refer (1) above for the dates of appointment/election of each of the current KMP 
(b) Resigned 13 October 2016; appointed acting Managing Director 18 December 2015; appointed Director 6 March 2014
(c) Includes leave entitlements and termination benefits (totalling $106,375) 
(d) Resigned 10 August 2016; appointed Chairman on 29 July 2016; appointed Director on 9 October 2012 
(e) Removed at general meeting on 29 July 2016; appointed Director on 7 March 2014 
(f) Resigned 16 December 2016; commenced on 8 February 2016; appointed Company Secretary and CFO on 29 February 2016

(4) Executive Share Plan (ESP)

The Company has an ESP which was approved by shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting
(AGM) held on 28 November 201468.  The ESP was developed to serve as the Company’s principal
vehicle to grant long term incentive awards and form a key element of the Company’s total
remuneration strategy for directors and selected senior management.

The primary objectives of the ESP are to:

(a) assist with the attraction, motivation and retention of directors and senior management and more
closely align the interest of directors and senior management with shareholders by matching
rewards with the long-term performance of the Company, and accordingly drive the Company’s
improved performance;

(b) align the incentives provided to participants with current market practice; and

(c) provide the Company with flexibility to accommodate changes in the Company’s circumstances
and shifts in regulatory and market practice from time to time.

The ESP involves the Company providing interest-bearing limited-recourse loans to eligible 
participants to purchase ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.  As part of the loan 
arrangements, the Company will take security over those ordinary shares to secure repayment of the 
loans.  Interest will be charged on the loans at a fixed rate of 6.45% per annum for the term of the 
loans, capitalised monthly.  The term of the loans will be 3 years and 3 months.  The interest will be 
recourse to the participant.  The loans may be repaid early in certain circumstances, however 
participants in the ESP remain liable for the entire amount of interest applicable over the loan term.   

Further details about the ESP are set out in the Company’s Notice of AGM and Explanatory Statement 
dated 29 October 2014.   

The Company has issued shares to and entered into loan arrangements with previous Key 
Management Personnel pursuant to the ESP.  Further details are set out in: 

• Keybridge’s ASX Announcement dated 19 December 2014: Appendix 3B and Further Detail
Regarding Issuance of Loan Funded Shares);

• Keybridge’s ASX Announcement dated 28 April 2015: Appendix 3B; and

• Note 14 (Share-Based Payments) in the accompanying financial statements.

The Company has not issued shares to and entered into loan arrangements with Key Management 
Personnel pursuant to the ESP during the financial year.  

No Key Management Personnel are involved in the ESP vis a vis holding or being issued ESP shares. 

68 Refer KBC’s Notice of AGM released on ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC’s ASX announcement dated 1 December 2014: Results of AGM 

http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byy5rqx4l5s8.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20151218/pdf/433x487dmfctwg.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140307/pdf/42n7b0gqlhn0qv.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160810/pdf/4396ndzdq5kbjs.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20121009/pdf/4298cqt0nk5tty.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160607/pdf/437rbb3cb8rfqf.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160729/pdf/438yc6rlt2qbvw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140307/pdf/42n7b0gqlhn0qv.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161216/pdf/43dsprpr2lsr4d.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150428/pdf/42y4tymmz5zdb6.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141201/pdf/42v580c89yyfz3.pdf
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(5) Formal Terms of Employment/Engagement

Details of the material terms of formal agreements entered by the Company with Key Management
Personnel are as follows:

KMP and 
Position(s) 
Held 

Relevant Date(s) Base Salary/Fees per 
annum 

Other Terms 

John Patton 
(Company 
Executive) 

22 December 2016  
(date of employment 
agreement)   
13 October 2016 
(date of 
commencement) 

$175,000 base salary 
per annum 
plus employer 
superannuation 
contributions (currently 
9.5% of base salary)  
plus additional wages (at 
an agreed day or hourly 
rate) in respect of 
approved/agreed excess 
hours 

• The agreement has no fixed term or fixed
rolling terms of service.

• Commitment to a minimum 16 hours per
week over the course of a 5-day working
week (averaged out over the course of a
month) plus reasonable additional time
required by the Company in order to satisfy
Company business or operational
requirements.

• Standard annual leave (20 days) and
personal/sick leave (10 days paid)
entitlements.

• Three months’ notice of termination by the
Company and one month’s notice of
termination by the Company Executive.
Immediate termination without notice if
Company Executive commits any serious
act of misconduct.

• Not prohibited from also concurrently acting
as a director of any company or providing
similar services to any company, save that
Board consent will be required if the
Company Executive proposes to take up a
position of employment or consultancy with
Industry competitors of Keybridge.

Victor Ho 
(Company 
Secretary) 

13 October 2016 
(date of consultancy 
agreement and date 
of commencement) 

$150,000 base retainer 
fees per annum 
(excluding GST) 
plus additional fees (at 
an agreed day or hourly 
rate) in respect of 
approved/agreed excess 
hours  

• The agreement has no fixed term or fixed
rolling terms of service.

• Commitment to a minimum 16 hours per
week over the course of a 5-day working
week (averaged out over the course of a
month) plus reasonable additional time
required by the Company in order to satisfy
Company business or operational
requirements.

• One month’s notice of termination by the
Company and one month’s notice of
termination by the Company Executive.
Immediate termination without notice if
consultant commits any serious act of
misconduct.

• May be entitled to performance related short 
and long-term incentive scheme benefits
(including cash bonuses) as agreed with the
Company from time to time – as at the date
of this report, no such scheme has been
established.

• Not prohibited from also concurrently acting
as a director or company secretary of any
company or providing similar services to any 
company, save that Board consent will be
required if the Company Executive proposes 
to take up a position of employment or
consultancy with Industry competitors of
Keybridge.

The Company does not presently have formal agreements with other Key Management Personnel. 
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(6) Other Benefits Provided to Key Management Personnel

Save as outlined below, no Key Management Personnel has during or since the end of the financial
year, received or become entitled to receive a benefit, other than a remuneration benefit as disclosed
above, by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related entity with the Director or with a firm
of which he is a member, or with a Company in which he has a substantial interest:

• During the financial year, Keybridge incurred legal expenses totalling $23,863 (2017: $60,147)
(excluding GST) with Atanaskovic Hartnell Lawyers (AH).  Non-Executive Director, Jeremy
Kriewaldt (appointed 13 October 2016), was a Partner at AH until 5 June 2018.  Mr Kriewaldt
did not provide any legal services to Keybridge in this regard during the financial year.  AH fees
are charged by AH and paid by Keybridge on an arm's length commercial basis and Mr Kriewaldt
was not involved in Keybridge’s decisions concerning engagement of legal services provided
by AH.

• On 23 November 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Aurora Funds
Management Limited (AFML) for an AFML employee (who was also appointed an Executive
Director of AFML on 12 January 2018) to provide portfolio management services to the
Company in respect of the Company's management of the investment portfolio of the HHY Fund
(ASX: HHY) (pursuant to an Investment Management Agreement (IMA) (dated 30 June 2016)
with AFML (as Responsible Entity/Trustee) for the Company to manage the investment portfolio
of the HHY Fund).  The Company's Chairman, John Patton (appointed a Director on 10 August
2016 and Chairman and Company Executive on 13 October 2016) is also the Managing Director
and a beneficial owner of AFML.  During the financial year, fees of $18,000 (2017: $12,000)
(excluding GST) have been incurred by the Company in this regard.  The arrangement was
negotiated and agreement reached on an arm’s length commercial basis.

(7) Engagement of Remuneration Consultants

The Company has not engaged any remuneration consultants to provide remuneration
recommendations in relation to Key Management Personnel during the year.  The Board has
established a policy for engaging external Key Management Personnel remuneration consultants
which includes, inter alia, that the Non-Executive Directors on the RNC be responsible for approving
all engagements of and executing contracts to engage remuneration consultants and for receiving
remuneration recommendations from remuneration consultants regarding Key Management
Personnel.  Furthermore, the Company has a policy that remuneration advice provided by
remuneration consultants be quarantined from Management where applicable.

(8) Securities in the Company Held by Key Management Personnel

The number of listed ordinary shares (ASX:KBC) in the Company held by Key Management Personnel
is set below:

Balance at 
commencement/ Received as part 

Balance at 
cessation/ 

Key Management Personnel 30 June 2017 Additions of remuneration Disposals 30 June 2018 
Directors: 
John Patton 150,000(a) - - - 150,000 
William Johnson - - - - - 
Simon Cato - - - - - 
Jeremy Kriewaldt 5,000(b) - - - 5,000 
Company Secretary: 
Victor Ho - - - - -
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The number of Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA) in the Company held by Key 
Management Personnel is set below: 

Balance at 
commencement/ Received as part 

Balance at 
cessation/ 

Key Management Personnel 30 June 2017 Additions of remuneration Disposals 30 June 2018 
Directors: 
John Patton 4,166(a) - - - 4,166 
William Johnson - - - - - 
Simon Cato - - - - - 
Jeremy Kriewaldt 1,138(b) - - - 1,138 
Company Secretary: 
Victor Ho - - - - - 

Notes to tables: 
(a) Refer John Patton’s Initial Director’s Interest Notice dated 10 August 2016.
(b) Refer Jeremy Kriewaldt’s Initial Director’s Interest Notice dated 13 October 2016
(c) The disclosures of security holdings above are in accordance with the accounting standards which require disclosure of

shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by each Key Management person, a close member of the family of that
person, or an entity over which either of these persons have, directly or indirectly, control, joint control or significant
influence (as defined under Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures).

(9) Voting and Comments on the Remuneration Report at the 2017 AGM

At the Company’s most recent (2017) AGM, a resolution to adopt the prior year (2017) Remuneration
Report was put to a vote on a poll and was carried by a majority of votes cast, however, more than
25% of votes cast were against the adoption.66

This constituted a "second strike" under the executive remuneration related provisions of the
Corporations Act.69  A “Board Spill Resolution” was put to shareholders at the 2017 AGM and was not
carried by a majority of votes cast.

Comments made on the Remuneration Report were addressed by the Chairman at the AGM.

This concludes the audited Remuneration Report. 

69  The Corporations Act was amended in June 2011 to introduce the so-called "two-strikes" rule - if at least 25% of the votes cast on the adoption of the remuneration report at 
two consecutive AGM's are against adopting the remuneration report, shareholders will have the opportunity to immediately vote on a "Board Spill Resolution" at the second 
AGM, as required by section 250V of the Corporations Act.  If the Board Spill Resolution is approved, a further meeting of shareholders must be held within 90 days (the Board 
Re-election Meeting).  The directors (save for a managing director, where applicable) of a company will cease to hold office prior to the Board Re-election Meeting but are 
eligible to stand for re-election at the same.  Key Management Personnel and their Closely Related Parties” are restricted from voting on the adoption of the remuneration 
report or the Board Spill Resolution but are not restricted from voting at the Board Re-election Meeting 

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160810/pdf/43972mrtvlff5k.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20161013/pdf/43byyp17th1sy2.pdf
http://www.aasb.gov.au/admin/file/content105/c9/AASB124_07-15.pdf
http://www.comlaw.gov.au/Details/C2011A00042
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s250v.html
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE 

The Company insures Directors and Officers against liability they may incur in respect of any wrongful acts 
or omissions made by them in such capacity (to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)) 
(D&O Policy).  Details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of the insurance policies are not disclosed 
as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.  

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ DEEDS 

In addition to the rights of indemnity provided under the Company’s Constitution (to the extent permitted by 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)), the Company has also entered into a deed with each of the Directors and 
the Company Secretary (Officer) to regulate certain matters between the Company and each Officer, both 
during the time the Officer holds office and after the Officer ceases to be an officer of the Company, including 
the following matters: 

(a) The Company’s obligation to indemnify an Officer for liabilities or legal costs incurred as an officer of
the Company (to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)); and

(b) Subject to the terms of the deed and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), the Company may advance
monies to the Officer to meet any costs or expenses of the Officer incurred in circumstances relating
to the indemnities provided under the deed and prior to the outcome of any legal proceedings brought
against the Officer.

During the 2016/2017 financial year, the Company agreed to advance up to $400,000 as loan funds in respect 
of former Managing Director’s (Nicholas Bolton70) legal costs incurred in circumstances where Mr Bolton’s 
Director’s Deed with the Company provided a procedure for the advancement of monies in this regard.  The 
Company agreed to increase the advance arrangement by $40,000 to $440,000 during the financial year.  As 
at 30 June 2018, $440,000 (2017: $335,608) has been advanced via payments made to Mr Bolton’s lawyers. 

The Board had agreed to advance these funds in accordance with the relevant provision of Mr Bolton’s 
Director’s Deed and subject also to various terms and conditions agreed with Mr Bolton, including a monetary 
cap (initially $400,000 and increased to $440,000 at the discretion of the Board), that advances would be 
provided only as payment of bills rendered by Mr Bolton’s lawyers in relation to the relevant proceedings, that 
the Company needed to be satisfied that the amount of each legal bill was reasonable, that the Company 
would have access to Mr Bolton’s lawyers to ensure that it was promptly informed of any material 
developments in relation to the proceedings and otherwise to enable the Company to assess the likely 
outcome of those proceedings, that Mr Bolton would be obliged to repay any amounts advanced in various 
circumstances specified in his Director’s Deed including in any situation in which Mr Bolton is not entitled to 
be indemnified or advanced those costs, and a provision for review of the position once the outcome of the 
relevant proceeding is known, including the repayment of all or a portion of the advance (as appropriate). 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of a court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or any part of such proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during and 
since the financial year.   

AUDITORS 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the Auditors for audit and non-audit services provided during the 
financial year are set out below: 

Auditor Audit & Review Fees 
Non-Audit Services and 

Other Payments (including disbursements) Total 
$ $ $ 

Deloitte 304,000(a) 18,599 322,599 

70  Who resigned as Managing Director on 17 December 2015 
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Note: 
(a) Includes $210,000 pertaining to fees for the 30 June 2017 financial year.

The Board is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the Auditor during the year is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The 
Board is satisfied that the nature of the non-audit services disclosed above did not compromise the general 
principles relating to auditor independence as set out in the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia 
and APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants: Professional Independence, including reviewing 
or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, 
acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards. 

Deloitte continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) forms part of this Directors Report and is set out on page 37.  This relates to the Audit Report, 
where the Auditors state that they have issued an independence declaration. 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 

The Directors are not aware of any matters or circumstances at the date of this Directors’ Report, other than 
those referred to in this Directors’ Report (in particular, in the Review of Operations) or the accompanying 
financial statements or notes thereto (in particular Note 25 (Events occurring after the reporting period)), that 
have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, the results of operations or the state of 
affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years. 

ROUNDING OFF 

Keybridge is a company of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191 (dated 24 March 2016).  Where amounts in the Directors’ Report and Financial Report 
have been rounded to the nearest thousand, it is in accordance with Corporations Instrument 2016/191.  

Signed for and on behalf of the Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Board, 

John Patton Simon Cato 
Chairman Non-Executive Director and 

Chairman of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

31 August 2018 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/num_act/ca2001172/s327.html
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s307c.html
https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/F2016L00442
https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/F2016L00442
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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RESTATED
Note

Revenue 2
Fees
Total revenue

Other Income 2
Interest revenue
Dividend revenue
Other income
Total Revenue and Other Income

Other gains and losses: 2
Net gain /(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Impairment reversal /(expense)
Excess of net assets over cost on acquisition 19
Net gain on derivative liabilities
Gain on revaluation of foreign currency assets

Share of Associate entity's loss 3

Expenses
Personnel expenses
Corporate expenses
Administration expenses
Other expenses
Results from operating activities
Finance expenses
Loss before Income Tax
Income tax benefit/(expense) 5
Loss after income tax for the year 

Other Comprehensive Income
Foreign currency translation reserve
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the Company 6

86,791 202,213          

694,491 747,042          
14,265 281,101          
36,809 267,236          

832,356 1,497,592       

124,657 (6,036,169)     
- 

(6,808,416)      

(4.06) 

2017
$

1,274,336       

202,213          

(353,990)        
61,615 

(298,555)        

2018
$

86,791 

170,232 
88,021 

(5,132,392)      

(760,844)         

(524,270)         

(344,998)         
(95,879) 

804,156 

- 

(4.30) 

(1,658,825)      

(6,446,272)     

(308,073)         

(120,202)        

(308,074)        
(6,446,272)     

- 
(6,805,859)      

(6,805,859)      

(6,446,272)     

(6,138,198)     

- 

(2,557) 

(6,497,786)      

(645,658)        
(1,111,221)     

(405,946)        

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements ANNUAL REPORT | 38
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Note

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8
Receivables
Other assets
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Loans and receivables 9
Investment in Associate entity 20
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax asset
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8
Deferred tax liability
Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity
Issued capital 12
Reserves 13
Accumulated losses
Total Equity

2,134,438       
(233,178,714) 

15,647,817     23,697,473     

253,637,724   253,717,174   
3,159,013       

(240,124,345)  

4,373,480       4,501,464       

15,647,817     23,697,473     

- - 
4,053,364       4,141,385       

20,021,297     28,198,937     

4,053,364       4,141,385       

320,116          360,079          
320,116          360,079          

- - 
7,482,814       14,421,285     

106,038          406,847          

2018 2017
$ $

5,007,980       1,414,476       
7,278,327       11,836,135     

5,400,908       11,835,100     

146,138          120,194          

2,081,631       2,584,020       
275 2,165 

12,538,483     13,777,652     

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements ANNUAL REPORT | 39
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Share Foreign 
Issued -based Profits currency Accumulated

Note capital payments reserve translation losses Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 253,717,174 286,771  1,526,167   -        (225,792,584) 29,737,528  

Loss for the year - -         - -        (6,446,272)      (6,446,272)  
Profits reserve transfer 13 - -         939,858     - (939,858) - 
Total comprehensive 

income for the year - -         939,858     - (7,386,130) (6,446,272)  

Transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners:

Share based payment  14 - 406,217 - -        - 406,217      

Balance at 30 June 2017 253,717,174 692,988  2,466,025   - (233,178,714) 23,697,473  

Balance at 1 July 2017 253,717,174    692,988     2,466,025      - (233,178,714) 23,697,473  

Loss for the year - -         - -        (6,805,859) (6,805,859)  
Profits reserve transfer 13 - -         139,772 - (139,772) - 
Foreign currency reserve 13 - -         - (2,557)   - (2,557) 
Total comprehensive 

income for the year - -         139,772     (2,557)   (6,945,631)      (6,808,416)  

Transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners:

Share buy-backs  12 (79,450)        -         - -        - (79,450)       
Share-based payment  14 - (371,388) - -        - (371,388)     
Dividends paid  15 - -         (790,402)    -        - (790,402)     

Balance at 30 June 2018 253,637,724 321,600  1,815,395   (2,557)   (240,124,345)   15,647,817  

Reserves

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements ANNUAL REPORT | 40
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Fees received
Interest received
Other income received
Payments to suppliers and employees
CRPN Interest payments

Net Cash used in Operating Activities 7(a)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Payments for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Dividends received
Return of capital received
Proceeds from sale/repayment of loans and receivables
Loans provided
Purchase of shares in Associate entity
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment

Net Cash provided by Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Share buy-backs
Dividends paid

Net Cash used in Financing Activities

Net increase in cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of financial year 7

20172018

288,984          
33,533 75,331 
26,128 

$ $

9,336,352       

(258,455)         

7,781,528       

371,761          

49,766 973,982          
(2,925,292)      (3,432,455)     

(308,073)         (308,074)        

11,851 

(4,270,921)      (4,058,469)     

1,414,476       1,665,401       
(194,234)         (204,059)        

5,007,980       1,414,476       

3,787,738       (46,866)          

(869,852)         - 

(790,402)         - 
(79,450) - 

(3,123,938)      (2,402,232)     

- 2,090 
(240,000)        

2,355,366       

6,278,275       

14,265 1,709 

3,101,707       

(153,271)         - 

- 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements ANNUAL REPORT | 41
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1. ABOUT THIS FINANCIAL REPORT

1.1 Background

This financial report covers the consolidated financial 
statement of the consolidated entity consisting of Keybridge 
Capital Limited (the Company), its subsidiaries and 
investments in associates (the Consolidated Entity or 
Keybridge).  The financial report is presented in the 
Australian currency. 

Keybridge Capital Limited is a company limited by shares 
incorporated in Australia and whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).     

These financial statements have been prepared on a 
streamlined basis where key information is grouped 
together for ease of understanding and readability. The 
notes include information which is required to understand 
the financial statements and is material and relevant to the 
operations, financial position and performance of the 
Consolidated Entity. 

Information is considered material and relevant if, for 
example: 
(a) the amount in question is significant because of its

size or nature;
(b) it is important for understanding the results of the

Consolidated Entity;
(c) it helps to explain the impact of significant changes

in the Consolidated Entity’s business; or
(d) it relates to an aspect of the Consolidated Entity’s

operations that may be important to its future
performance.

The notes to the financial statements are organised into the 
following sections: 

(a) Key Performance: Provides a breakdown of the
key individual line items in the statement of
comprehensive income that is most relevant to
understanding performance and shareholder
returns for the year:

Notes 
2 Revenue and Income 
3 Expenses 
4 Segment information 
5 Income tax  
6 Loss per share 

(b) Financial Risk Management: Provides
information about the Consolidated Entity’s
exposure and management of various financial
risks and explains how these affect the
Consolidated Entity’s financial position and
performance:

Notes 
7 Cash and cash equivalents 
8 Financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss 
9 Loans and receivables 

10 Financial risk management 

(c) Other Assets and Liabilities: Provides
information on other balance sheet assets and
liabilities that do not materially affect performance
or give rise to material financial risk:

Notes 
11 Fair value measurement of financial 

instruments 

(d) Capital Structure: This section outlines how the
Consolidated Entity manages its capital structure
and related financing costs (where applicable), as
well as capital adequacy and reserves. It also
provides details on the dividends paid by the
Company:

Notes 
12 Issued capital 
13 Reserves 
14 Share-based payments 
15 Dividends and CRPN interest payments 
16 Capital risk management 

(e) Consolidated Entity Structure: Provides details
and disclosures relating to the parent entity of the
Consolidated Entity, controlled entities,
investments in associates and any acquisitions
and/or disposals of businesses in the year.
Disclosure on related parties is also provided in the 
section:

Notes 
17 Parent entity information 
18 Investment in controlled entities 
19 Business combinations 
20 Investment in associate entity 
21 Related party transactions 

(f) Other: Provides information on items which require
disclosure to comply with Australian Accounting
Standards and other regulatory pronouncements
however, are not considered significant in
understanding the financial performance or
position of the Consolidated Entity:

Notes 
22 Auditors' remuneration 
23 Loan commitments 
24 Contingencies 
25 Events occurring after the reporting 

period 

Significant and other accounting policies 

Significant and other accounting policies that summarise 
the measurement basis used and presentation policies 
adopted that are relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements are provided throughout the notes to 
the financial statements. 

Critical accounting judgement and estimate 

Information about the significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainties and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amount recognised in the financial statements are 
described in the following notes: 

Notes 
5 Income tax  
8 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
9 Loans and receivables 
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1.2 Basis of Preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), Australia 
Accounting Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001 
(Cth).  The Company is a for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements. 

Keybridge is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191 dated 24 March 2016.  Where financial 
information presented in Australian Dollars has been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, it is in accordance with 
Corporations Instrument 2016/191 .  

Compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Consolidated 
Entity comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

Reporting Basis and Financial Statement Presentation 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern 
basis and is based on historical costs modified by the 
revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities for 
which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these financial statements have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

1.3 Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
assets and liabilities of the Company as at 30 June 2018 
and the results of its subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
The Company and its subsidiaries are referred to in this 
financial report as Keybridge or the Consolidated Entity. 

All inter-company balances and transactions between 
entities in the Consolidated Entity, including any unrealised 
profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.    

1.4 Comparative Figures 

Where required by the Accounting Standards, comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial period. Refer to Note 
1.8 for details of changes made. 

1.5 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown 
inclusive of GST.  Cash flows are presented in the 
Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the 
GST component of investing and financing activities, which 
are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

1.6 Impairment of Assets 

At each reporting date, the Consolidated Entity reviews the 
carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets (where 
applicable) to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have been impaired.  If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any 
excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income.  Impairment testing is 
performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets 
(where applicable) with indefinite lives.  Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Consolidated Entity estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 

1.7 New, revised or amending Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new, revised 
or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the AASB that are mandatory for the current 
reporting period. 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or 
Interpretations that are not mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

1.8 Restatement of Comparatives 

Upon a review of the internal records of the Consolidated 
Entity and the presentation in the 30 June 2017 financial 
report, the Company has determined to change the 
presentation of certain aspects of the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income to better align with 
industry practice and the Accounting Standards.  The 
comparative information has been restated to reflect these 
changes.  No additional balance sheet in the Statement of 
Financial Position is required as the restatement relates 
only to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income and has no impact on the 
Statement of Financial Position.  There is no change to profit 
before tax, other comprehensive income or earnings/(loss) 
per share as a result of these presentational changes. 
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1.8 Restatement of Comparatives (continued) 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Reported Comparative Restated 

2017 Adjustment 2017 
Revenue and Income $ $ 
Fees 202,214 (202,214) - 
Realised gain on sale of investments 1,808,275 (1,808,275) - 
Unrealised gain on derivative liabilities 61,615 (61,615) - 
Interest revenue 747,042 (747,042) - 
Dividend revenue 281,101 (281,101) - 
Other income 267,235 (267,235) - 

Revenue 
Fees - 202,214 202,214 

- 202,214 202,214 

Other Income 
Interest income - 747,042 747,042 
Dividend income - 281,101 281,101 
Other income - 267,235 267,235 
Total Revenue and Other Income - 1,497,592 1,497,592 

Other gains and losses: 
Net gain / (loss) on financial assets at FVTPL - 1,274,335 1,274,335 
Impairment reversal /(expense) - (6,036,169) 6,036,169 
Net gain on derivative liabilities - 61,615 61,615 
Gain / (loss) on revaluation of foreign currency assets - (353,990) (353,990) 

Share of Associate entity's loss (298,555) - (298,555)

Expenses 
Impairment expenses (6,036,169) 6,036,169 - 
Unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL (533,939) 533,939 - 
Loss on revaluation of foreign currency assets (353,990) 353,990 - 
Personnel expenses (645,658) - (645,658)
Corporate expenses (1,111,221) - (1,111,221)
Administration expenses (405,946) - (405,946)
Other expenses (120,202) - (120,202)
Results from operating activities (6,138,198) - (6,138,198)
Finance expenses (308,074) - (308,074)
Loss before Income Tax (6,446,272) - (6,446,272)
Income tax benefit/(expense) - - 
Loss after income tax for the year  (6,446,272) - (6,446,272)

Other Comprehensive Income 
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax - - - 
Total Comprehensive Income for the year (6,446,272) - (6,446,272)

1.9 Summary of Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective 

The Company has reviewed the new Accounting Standards and Interpretations which have been released but are not yet effective 
and assessed their impact as follows: 

• AASB 9 will have an impact as the Consolidated Entity has loan and receivable assets.  Based on the Company’s initial
assessment, the loans and receivables are likely to be measured at fair value through profit or loss under AASB 9.  This
will require the disclosure of the fair value hierarchy of these loans and receivables in Note 11 (Fair Value Measurement
of Financial Instruments) when AASB 9 is adopted.  This anticipated disclosure impact is not considered to be material
as the carrying value of loans and receivables approximates their fair values.

• AASB 15 is not likely to have a material impact on the financial statements as the recognition of Fees revenue is not likely 
to change under the new standard.

• AASB 16 is not likely to have a material impact as the Consolidated Entity currently has no operating leases.

All other standards summarised in the table below are not considered to have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity’s 
results as they are not relevant to the Consolidated Entity’s current activities or transactions.  
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1.9 Summary of Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (continued) 

AASB 
reference 

Title and 
Affected 
Standard(s) Nature of Change 

Application 
date 

AASB 9, and 
relevant 
amending 
standards 

Financial 
Instruments 

AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  

Except for certain trade receivables, an entity initially measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.  

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL), amortised cost, or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI), on the basis of their contractual cash 
flows and the business model under which the debt instruments are 
held.  

There is a fair value option (FVO) that allows financial assets on initial 
recognition to be designated as FVTPL if that eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch.  

Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. However, 
entities have an irrevocable option on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis to present changes in the fair value of non-trading instruments in 
other comprehensive income (OCI) without subsequent reclassification 
to profit or loss.  

For financial liabilities designated as FVTPL using the FVO, the amount 
of change in the fair value of such financial liabilities that is attributable 
to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI.  The remainder of 
the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless 
presentation in OCI of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s 
credit risk would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or 
loss.  

All other AASB 139 classification and measurement requirements for 
financial liabilities have been carried forward into AASB 9, including the 
embedded derivative separation rules and the criteria for using the 
FVO.  

The incurred credit loss model in AASB 139 has been replaced with an 
expected credit loss model in AASB 9.  

The requirements for hedge accounting have been amended to more 
closely align hedge accounting with risk management, establish a more 
principle-based approach to hedge accounting and address 
inconsistencies in the hedge accounting model in AASB 139.  

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2018 

AASB 2014-10  Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Sale or 
Contribution of 
Assets between 
an Investor and 
its Associate or 
Joint Venture  

The amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognised when a 
transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a business as defined 
in AASB 3 Business Combinations.  

Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 
does not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the 
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. 

AASB 2015-10 defers the mandatory effective date (application date) 
of AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2016.  

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2018 
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1.9 Summary of Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (continued) 

AASB 
reference 

Title and 
Affected 
Standard(s) Nature of Change 

Application 
date 

AASB 2016-5 Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification 
and 
Measurement of 
Share-based 
Payment 
Transactions 

This Standard amends AASB 2 Share-based Payment, clarifying how 
to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The 
amendments provide requirements on the accounting for:  
• The effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the

measurement of cash-settled share-based payments
• Share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for

withholding tax obligations
• A modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based

payment that changes the classification of the transaction from
cash-settled to equity-settled.

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2018 

AASB 15, and 
relevant 
amending 
standards 

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

AASB 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 
Revenue, AASB Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, 
AASB Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, 
AASB Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and AASB 
Interpretation 131 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services) and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with 
customers, unless the contracts are in the scope of other standards, 
such as AASB 117 (or AASB 16 Leases, once applied).  

The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises 
revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying the following 
steps:  
• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

in the contract
• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2018 

AASB 2017-1 Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Transfers of 
Investments 
Property, Annual 
Improvements 
2014-2016 
Cycle and Other 
Amendments 

The amendments clarify certain requirements in: 
• AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards –

deletion of exemptions for first-time adopters and addition of an
exemption arising from AASB Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration

• AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – clarification of
scope

• AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures –
measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value

• AASB 140 Investment Property – change in use.

Annual reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2018 
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1.9 Summary of Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (continued) 

AASB 
reference 

Title and 
Affected 
Standard(s) Nature of Change 

Application 
date 

AASB 
Interpretation 
22 

Foreign 
Currency 
Transactions 
and Advance 
Consideration 

The Interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate 
to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or 
part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the 
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, 
then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration.  

Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2018 

AASB 16 Leases AASB 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases under AASB 117 
Leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees 
– leases of ’low-value’ assets (eg. personal computers) and short-term
leases (ie. leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to
make lease payments (ie. the lease liability) and an asset representing
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (ie. the right-
of-use asset).

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense 
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use 
asset.  

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the 
occurrence of certain events (eg. a change in the lease term, a change 
in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 
used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise 
the amount of the re-measurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  

Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting 
under AASB 117. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the 
same classification principle as in AASB 117 and distinguish between 
two types of leases: operating and finance leases.  

Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 1 
January 2019 
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2018 2017
$ $

Revenue
Fees

Investment management fees 86,791 180,987         
Outside Directors' fees - 21,226 

86,791 202,213         
Other income
Interest revenue 694,491 747,042         
Dividend revenue 14,265 281,101         
Other income

Litigation settlement 19,668 80,423 
Unit trust distributions 12,805 42,708 
Disposal of subsidiary - 8,500 
Deferred consideration on disposal of subsidiary - 135,000 
Other income 4,336 605 

745,565 1,295,379      
Other gains and losses
Realised gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,002,939 1,808,275      
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (6,135,331)    (533,939)        
Net gain /(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (5,132,392)    1,274,336      
Reversal of impairment of loans and receivables 933,391 - 
Impairment of loans and receivables (808,734)       (6,016,733)     
Impairment of Associate entity - (19,436) 
Excess of net assets over cost on acquisition 804,156 - 
Net gain on derivative liabilities 88,021 61,615 
Gain on revaluation of foreign currency assets 170,232 (353,990)        

(3,945,326)    (5,054,208)     

(3,112,970)    (3,556,616)     
Excess of net assets over cost on acquisition

Accounting policy

(a) Sale of financial assets, goods and other assets

The Consolidated Entity acquired the balance of the 50% interest in BIC Europe Limited (BICE) it did not
own on 27 April 2018 (after the sale of the Total Solar Plant and the repayment/discharge of related loans -
refer Note 9(a)). The net assets of BICE as at the date of acquisition (as to 50%) was in excess of the
consideration paid by the Company and accordingly, the excess of $804,156 has been recognised as
revenue. Refer to Note 19.

The consolidated loss before income tax includes the following items of
revenue:

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Consolidated Entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. All revenue is stated net of the amount of
Goods and Services Tax (GST) except where the amount of GST incurred is not payable to the Australian
Tax Office.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from the sale of financial assets, goods or other assets is recognised when the Consolidated
Entity has passed control of the financial assets, goods or other assets to the buyer.
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2. REVENUE AND INCOME (continued)

Accounting policy (continued)
(b) Fees and interest revenue

(c) Dividend revenue

(d) Other revenues
Other revenues are recognised on an accruals basis.

3. EXPENSES 2018 2017
$ $

Share of Associate entity's loss 760,844 298,555         
Personnel expenses

Directors' fees 393,320 545,547         
Salaries and wages 47,158 82,798 
Executive Share Plan 49,852 (15,023)          
Other 33,940 32,336 

Corporate expenses
Professional and consulting fees 616,085 563,974         
Auditing, accounting and tax services 348,051 303,392         
Legal fees 694,689 243,855         

Administration expenses 344,998 405,946         
Other expenses 95,879 120,202         

3,384,816 2,581,582      

The consolidated loss before income tax includes the following items of
expenses:

Interest revenue is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the carrying amount of the financial asset. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. Where there are uncertainties in
relation to the collectability of interest income, the Consolidated Entity will determine whether income
is probable. Where it is not probable, the interest is accordingly not accrued. The Consolidated Entity
may receive fees for such services as loan extensions or debt facility management. Fees that are
integrated into the effective yield of financial assets are included in the measurement of the effective
interest rate.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. The
Consolidated Entity brings dividend revenue to account on the applicable ex-dividend entitlement
date.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

2018 Equity Debt Corporate Total
Segment profit and loss $ $ $ $
Revenue and income 1,894,335   1,010,554   117,472 3,022,361      
Expenses (7,799,250)  (210,030)     (1,510,867)    (9,520,147)     
Results from operating activities (5,904,915)  800,524      (1,393,395)    (6,497,786)     
Finance expenses - - (308,073)       (308,073)        
Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax (5,904,915)  800,524      (1,701,468)    (6,805,859)     
Income tax expense - - - - 
Profit/(Loss) for the year (5,904,915)  800,524      (1,701,468)    (6,805,859)     

Segment assets 10,672,484 5,307,966   4,040,847 20,021,297    
Segment liabilities - (70,151) (4,303,329)    (4,373,480)     
Net assets 10,672,484 5,237,815   (262,482)       15,647,817    

2017
Segment profit and loss
Revenue and income 2,180,624   1,002,968   183,890 3,367,482      
Expenses (1,162,540)  (6,502,683)  (1,840,457)    (9,505,680)     
Results from operating activities 1,018,084   (5,499,715)  (1,656,567)    (6,138,198)     
Finance expenses - - (308,074)       (308,074)        
Profit/(Loss) before Income Tax 1,018,084   (5,499,715)  (1,964,641)    (6,446,272)     
Income tax expense - - - - 
Profit/(Loss) for the year 1,018,084   (5,499,715)  (1,964,641)    (6,446,272)     

Segment assets 14,572,838 11,078,251 2,547,848 28,198,937    
Segment liabilities (13,200)       - (4,488,264) (4,501,464)     
Net assets 14,559,638 11,078,251 (1,940,416)    23,697,473    

Accounting policy

The Consolidated Entity has two strategic business segments as described below:
(a) Equity Investments comprise investments in listed and unlisted equities with exposure to various

sectors from time to time;

Investments

The Consolidated Entity operates principally in the Australian geographical area. An operating segment is
a component of the Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Consolidated Entity’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results for which discrete
financial information is available are regularly reviewed by the Company's Investment Committee (being
the 'chief operating decision-maker' under ASAB 8 (Operating Segments)) to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance.

Segment results that are reported to the Investment Committee include items directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

n Infrastructure:

n Private Equity:

n Insurance: Notes issued by the owner of a life insurance business in New Zealand.
n Property:

An additional Corporate segment relates to corporate assets and operations.

5. INCOME TAX
2018 2017

(a) The components of tax expense comprise: $ $
Current tax - - 
Deferred tax - - 

- - 
(b)

(1,871,611)    (1,772,725)     

Adjust tax effect of:
Non-deductible expenses 1,455 98,995 
Franking credits - 33,624 
Current year tax losses not brought to account 1,870,156 1,640,106 

Income tax attributable to entity - - 

Annual Recognised Annual 
movementin Profit/Loss movement

(c) Deferred taxes 2016 recognised 2017 recognised 2018
Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $ $

Loans and receivables 2,815,828    1,434,116   4,249,944   (1,683,560)    2,566,384      
Other investments 367,610       (351,672)     15,938        1,486,994 1,502,932      
Other 176,619       (104,585)     72,034        (29,093)         42,941 
Tax losses (3,360,057)   (687,372)     (4,047,429)  58,169 (3,989,260)     

- 290,487 290,487      (167,490)       122,997         
Deferred tax liabilities

Other investments - (219,080) (219,080)     191,696 (27,384)          
Financial liabilities - (71,407) (71,407)       (24,206)         (95,613)          

- (290,487) (290,487)     167,490 (122,997)        

Deferred tax - - - - - 

Debt investments comprise loans advanced, debts secured via assignment and investments in debt
instruments with exposure to a number of different sectors, as follows: 

Prima facie tax payable on operating loss before income tax at 27.5%
(2017: 27.5%)

The prima facie tax on operating loss before income tax is
reconciled to the income tax as follows:

Loans advanced to finance the development and construction of a Solar
Plant in Spain. The asset was sold and the loans repaid/discharged on
27 April 2018.
Promissory note issued by a US private investment company secured
(via collateral pledged) over its interest in a private equity fund which has
investments in US based manufacturing/distribution businesses.

Creditor of private companies (both in liquidation) with security held via
registered mortgages over strata title lots comprising Conference
Facilities at a Hotel located in Manly, Sydney.
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5. INCOME TAX (continued)

2018 2017
(d) Unrecognised deferred tax balances $ $

Unrecognised deferred tax asset - revenue losses 43,680,976 43,501,926    
Unrecognised deferred tax asset - capital losses 150,347 189,807         

43,831,323 43,691,734    

Critical accounting judgement and estimate

Tax Consolidation

Accounting policy
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the income tax rate for each taxing jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses (if applicable).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted
or substantively enacted for each taxing jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An
exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a
liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they
arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect
either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
The amount of deferred tax assets benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future, is
based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the
anticipation that the Consolidated Entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the
benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

The Consolidated Entity is subject to income taxes (and other similar taxes) in Australia. Judgement is
required in determining the Consolidated Entity's provision for income taxes.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as, in the Directors' opinion, it is not probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the Consolidated Entity can utilise the benefits. The utilisation
of revenue and capital tax losses are subject to compliance with taxation legislation.

The head entity, Keybridge Capital Limited, and its then Australian controlled entities have formed a tax
consolidated group with effect from June 2013. The members of the tax consolidation group continue to
account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each
entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax
liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets (as appropriate) arising from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits pertaining to controlled entities within the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements within the tax consolidated entities are
recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Consolidated Entity.
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5. INCOME TAX (continued)

Accounting policy (continued)

6. LOSS PER SHARE 2018 2017
cents cents

Basic and diluted loss per share (4.30) (4.06) 

2018 2017
$ $

Net loss after income tax (6,805,859)    (6,446,272)     

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 158,296,395 158,812,327  

Accounting policy

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2018 2017
$ $

Cash at bank 5,007,980 1,414,476      

The following represents the loss and weighted average
number of shares used in the EPS calculations:

The Company has 9 million (2017: 15 million) unlisted Executive Share Plan shares and 4,401,047 (2017:
4,401,047) listed Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA) which have not been included
in the calculation of the weighted average number of ordinary shares as they are considered to be
antidilutive pursuant to AASB 133 (Earnings per Share). Potential ordinary shares are considered
antidilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would increase earnings per share or decrease loss
per share from continuing operations. The calculation of diluted earnings/loss per share (above) does not
assume conversion, exercise, or other issue of potential ordinary shares that would have an antidilutive
effect on earnings/(loss) per share.

Number of shares

Basic earnings/loss per share is determined by dividing the operating result after income tax by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the financial period.

Diluted earnings/loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings/loss per
share resulting from the assumption that convertible instruments are converted, that options or warrants
are exercised, or that ordinary shares are issued upon the satisfaction of specified conditions. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the Consolidated Entity is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current and
deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in
equity.
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(a) 2018 2017
$ $

Loss after income tax (6,805,859)    (6,446,272)     
Add non-cash items:
Share of Associate entity's loss 760,844 298,555         
Net unrealised loss on financial assets 6,135,331 533,939         

at fair value through profit or loss
Net loss on revaluation of foreign currency assets (170,232)       353,990         
Net unrealised gain on derivative liabilities (88,021)         (61,615)          
Impairment expenses (124,657)       6,036,169      
Depreciation 1,890 5,363 
Disposal of equipment - 4,342 
Executive Share Plan 49,852 (15,023) 
Excess of net assets over cost on acquisition (804,156)       - 
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (555,181)       (1,509,511)     
Loans and receivables (1,419,908)    - 
Receivables (61,928)         (64,532)          
Other assets (25,944)         (849,584)        
Payables (15,969)         (688,053)        

(3,123,938)    (2,402,232)     
Accounting policy

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss $ $
Shares in listed investments 7,155,396 11,732,734    
Unlisted investments at fair value 99,579 103,401         
Futures derivatives at fair value 23,352 - 

7,278,327 11,836,135    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Convertible redeemable promissory notes (CRPN) 4,053,364 4,141,385      

Movement in CRPN
Opening balance 4,141,385 4,203,000      
Unrealised loss/(gain) on revaluation (88,021)         (61,615)          
Closing balance 4,053,364 4,141,385      

Futures derivatives comprise exchange traded index futures contracts.

Reconciliation of operating loss after income tax to net cash
provided by  operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts (if any) are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of
Financial Position.
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable promissory notes (CRPN)

n face value of $1.00 each with maturity on 31 July 2020;
n

n

n

n

n

n

Critical accounting judgement and estimate

Investment in Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO) (suspended from ASX since 25 July 2017)

(a)

(b)

The listed CRPN's (ASX:KBCPA) are measured and recognised as a financial liability at fair value through
profit or loss. The CRPN's were issued on 30 June 2015 on the following terms:

interest payments are fully franked (where possible) or grossed up with additional cash payments to
compensate for any unfranked component and 'qualified' Australian resident holders will have access
to franking credits in this regard;

at maturity, a holder has the ability to request a conversion of their CRPN to ordinary shares at a 2.5%
discount to the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company's listed shares (ASX:KBC) at
the time. The Company may respond to the holder's request by either converting the CRPN into
ordinary shares or redeeming the CRPN for cash at face value; and

For further details, refer to the CRPN Prospectus (dated 17 June 2015) and ATO Class Ruling CR
2015/54.

fixed interest rate of 7% per annum generally payable in arrears on 20 March, 20 June, 20 September
and 20 December each year;

As at the previous (30 June 2017) balance date, Keybridge adopted a carrying value of $0.145 per share
in respect of its 46,017,543 (30 June 2017: 49,683,828) MPO shareholding, which was the closing (last
bid) price on ASX as at 26 May 2017 (the day prior to MPO’s suspension on 29 May 2017). MPO shares
resumed trading on ASX on 4 July 2017 but were suspended again on 25 July 2017 with a closing price of
$0.14 as at 21 July 2017, the date of the last trade on the ASX prior to its suspension. As at the (30 June
2018) balance date, Keybridge has adopted a carrying value of $0.026 per MPO share – which has
resulted in a $5.912 million provision for impairment expense being recognised for the financial year.

MPO’s gross cash position of A$15.021 million as at 30 June 2018 (per MPO’s Quarterly Report for
the quarter ending 30 June 2018 dated 31 July 2018 and released on ASX on 1 August 2018);

MPO’s C$8.4 million (A$8.597 million, at an exchange rate of A$1.00 : C$0.9771 as at 30 June 2018)
provision in respect of Canadian litigation matters (per MPO’s Annual Report for the year ended 31
December 2017 released on ASX on 8 May 2018);

ranks ahead of ordinary shares with preferential right to payment of distributions and capital on
winding up;

the Company may also elect to convert the CRPN to ordinary shares at a 5% discount to VWAP at
maturity or redeem the CRPN for cash on the occurrence of certain trigger events.

regarded as an 'equity interest' under Australian tax law with interest payments regarded as a 'non-
share dividends';

Judgements have been made in the determination of the carrying value and fair value of financial assets
held at fair value through profit or loss. In making these judgements, the Consolidated Entity may give
additional consideration to adopting the most recent bid price (prior to the balance date) of listed
investments suspended from trading on a securities exchange as at balance date and the underlying
value of unlisted investments.

The revised $0.026 per share carrying value for MPO was based on the Keybridge Board’s judgement of
MPO’s estimated net asset backing having regard to the following matters:
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Accounting policy
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on the trade date, which includes transaction costs,
when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
are valued at fair value through profit and loss where they are acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term or if so designated by management and within the requirements of AASB 139:
(Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments) will any realised and unrealised gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value of these assets being recognised in the Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.

Drawbridge’s cash outflows for the 6 month period between April and September 2018 have not been
taken into account - this is estimated to be US$6.61 million (gross) or US$1.1 million (A$1.49 million, at an
exchange rate of A$1.00 : US$0.7391 as at 30 June 2018) per month (per MPO's 8 May 2018 ASX
announcement).

No value has been ascribed to MPO's 30% shareholding in Drawbridge Energy Holdings Ltd
(Drawbridge), which was reported to have gross cash of US$14.07 million, investment and other assets
of US$4.41 million, current liabilities of US$0.29 million and net assets of US$18.2 million (A$24.62
million, at an exchange rate of A$1.00 : US$0.7391 as at 30 June 2018), as at 31 March 2018 (per MPO’s
ASX announcement dated 8 May 2018: Molopo De-Risks By Diversifying its Oil and Gas Exploration
Portfolio).

Keybridge will re-assess the carrying value of its investment in MPO based on further information about
MPO’s financial position, as released on ASX by MPO.  Further details are in the Directors' Report.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and
trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date
which is the current bid price. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market
is determined using valuation techniques, including but not limited to recent arm's length transactions,
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. A variety of methods and assumptions may be
utilised based on market conditions existing at each Balance Date. The Consolidated Entity’s investment
portfolio is accounted for as a “financial assets at fair value through profit and loss” and is carried at fair
value. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Consolidated Entity initially recognises other financial liabilities on the date that they are originated,
which is the date the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expired. 

The Consolidated Entity classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities
category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. CRPNs are measured at fair value.
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9. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Gross Gross 
value Impairment Total value Impairment Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Infrastructure - - - 12,513,921 (6,082,358)    6,431,563      
Private equity 6,527,973   (5,995,422)   532,551      6,507,133   (5,995,422)    511,711         
Property 4,188,735   (3,303,735)   885,000      4,188,735   (3,303,735)    885,000         
Insurance 3,135,158   - 3,135,158 3,249,977   - 3,249,977 
Other 2,228,764   (1,380,565)   848,199 882,744      (125,895)       756,849 

16,080,630 (10,679,722) 5,400,908   27,342,510 (15,507,410)  11,835,100    

2018 2017
Movement in impairment $ $
Opening balance 15,507,410 9,490,677      
Previous impairments written off (5,178,256)    - 
Impairment (reversal) /expense (124,657)       6,016,733      
Reversal of share based payment reserve (Note 13) 475,224 - 
Closing balance 10,679,722 15,507,410    
(a)

(b)

2017

Loan Receivables – Infrastructure : In 2007/2008, Keybridge financed the development and
construction of the Totana 1.05MWp Solar Photovoltaic Park in the Murcia region in southern Spain. 

On 27 April 2018, the Totana Solar Plant assets in Spain was sold to Eliantus Energy for total
consideration of $8.32 million (€5.2 million), with A$8 million (€5 million) paid upfront and A$0.32
million (€0.2 million) payable in 18 months (which has been recognised as a loan receivable at
balance date). The initial A$8 million proceeds of sale has been repatriated to Keybridge (in
Australia) as part of the repayment/discharge of various loans owed to Keybridge (with a carrying
value of A$6.312 million as at 26 April 2018) by the corporate entities (originally set up by Keybridge
for this purpose) which held the Totana Solar Plant assets. Refer also Keybridge’s ASX
announcement dated 30 April 2018: Sale of Totana Solar Plant Assets.  

During the financial year to 27 April 2018 (prior to the sale), Keybridge also received cash loan
repayments totalling €0.675 million (A$1.034 million).  

Loan Receivables - Private Equity: Keybridge advanced ~US$4.3m to RPE I Investor LLC (RPE 
Investor) (a subsidiary of Republic Financial Corporation (RPC), a US private investment company)
under a limited recourse promissory note (Note) secured (via collateral pledged) over RPE Investor’s
interest in the Republic Private Equity I Limited Liability Limited Partnership, a private equity fund
(managed by a related party to RPC) with investments in US based manufacturing/distribution
businesses (RPE Fund). The principal and accrued interest (at 14.5% pa) under the note was
repayable on maturity on 29 December 2017 (the parties are in discussions in relation to a mutually
acceptable resolution of this matter). The Note arose out of a restructure in April 2013 where, as part
of arrangements to exit legacy aviation investments (made whilst Keybridge was known as Mariner
Bridge Investments Limited in 2006/2007) for US$29.7 million cash, Keybridge sold its interest in the
RPE Fund for US$4.3 million fully funded by a Keybridge loan with recourse only to that asset sold
(i.e. the Note)     
On 24 August 2017, Keybridge received notice from an RPC Executive (Republic) advising that it was
‘highly unlikely that the Note would be satisfied on or before its scheduled maturity’ (on 29 December
2017) and proposing a 3-year extension of the Note term or a ‘buy-out’ (retirement) of the Note for
US$0.394 million.  

2018
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9. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Loan Receivables – Insurance: Keybridge has invested NZ$3.8m (A$3.4m) (via NZ$0.109m equity
and NZ$3.691m notes) into Foundation Life, to finance Foundation’s acquisition of Tower Limited’s
life insurance business in New Zealand in 2014. Interest of 9% pa is payable under the note, which is
redeemable by noteholders in 50 years (May 2064) (amended in September 2017 from 10 years) or
by Foundation (from time to time). During the financial year , Keybridge received NZ$0.301m
(A$0.277m) distributions from Foundation. As at balance date, the loan balance is NZ$3.418m
(A$3.135m) (2017: NZ$3.41m and A$3.25m). 

Loan Receivables - Other: Includes 

$0.44m (2017: $0.336m) loan advance to a former Director (Nicholas Bolton) - further details are
in Note 21(d)(ii).

Loan Receivables – Property: Keybridge has registered mortgages over strata title lots comprising
Conference Facilities at a Hotel located in Manly, Sydney as security for loans to private companies
(which are in liquidation). As at balance date, the loan was carried at $0.985m (2017: $0.885m)
(based on the Directors’ judgement) – by reference to an independent valuation received in respect of
the lots in May 2016.  

$0.93m (2017: Nil) attributable to 3,666,285 shares in Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO) that
were vested in the Commonwealth (on trust for Keybridge) on 7 July 2017 under the declaration
and orders of the Takeovers Panel in the matter of Molopo Energy Limited 03R, 04R & 05R.
These vested shares will be sold by ASIC with the proceeds of sale accounted to the Company
(net of the costs, fees and expenses of the sale and any costs, fees and expenses incurred by
ASIC and the Commonwealth (if any)). As these vested MPO shares are held on trust for
Keybridge pending sale by ASIC, Keybridge continues to recognise the shares as company assets
(as a loan receivable) at the same carrying value per share as its holding of 46 million MPO shares
(2.6 cents per share - further details are in Note 8). This has resulted in a provision for impairment
expense of $0.436 million being recognised in respect of this 3.67 million parcel of MPO shares for
the financial year;

$0.315m (€0.2m) deferred consideration receivable in August 2019, being 18 months after the
sale of the Totana Solar Plant asset which was completed on 27 April 2018;

Loan Receivables - Private Equity (continued):
In light of these matters, the Board reduced the carrying value of the Note (receivable) to US$0.394
million (A$0.511 million) as at 30 June 2017. This was advised in Keybridge’s ASX announcement
dated 25 August 2017: Update – Private Equity Loan Receivable.

Since August 2017, Keybridge has also received alternative proposals from Republic to settle the
Note liability. As at the date of this report, Keybridge has not accepted Republic’s proposals and the
parties are in on-going discussions in relation to a mutually acceptable resolution of this matter.
Additionally, Keybridge is also reviewing its rights under the Note to call upon the collateral pledged as
security (ie. RPE Investor's interest in the RPE Fund).

The Board has maintained the carrying value of the Note (receivable) at US$0.394 million (A$0.532
million) as at balance date as it believes that the Note is recoverable on the basis that discussions
with Republic are on-going and the Board believes that a value of at least the current carrying value
will be recouped.
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Critical accounting judgement and estimate

Accounting policy

10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Judgements have been made in the determination of the carrying value, fair value and recoverability of
various loans and receivables. In making these judgements, the Consolidated Entity has given additional
consideration to loans and receivables that have not been making interest and or principal repayments
during the year as discussed below.

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition Loans and Receivables are measured using the 'effective interest
method', less any impairment losses. 

The collectability of debts is assessed at reporting date and where required, specific provision is made for
any doubtful debts or on a collective basis for a portfolio of loans considered collectively impaired. 

Loans (and the related impairment allowance accounts) are normally written off, either partially or in full,
when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of these amounts and, for collateralised loans, when the
proceeds from the realisation of security have been received.

The Consolidated Entity seeks to minimise the effects of financial risks arising in the normal course of the
Consolidated Entity’s business.

Financial risk management is undertaken by Management/the Investment Committee (IC) under policies
approved by the Board. During the year, Management/the IC continued to monitor the Consolidated
Entity’s policies and sought Board approval for any necessary changes to manage financial risks. The IC
members are Directors, John Patton and William Johnson.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the implementation of, and ensuring there are adequate policies
in relation to the Consolidated Entity’s risk management, compliance and control systems. These systems
require Management/the IC to be responsible for identifying and managing the Consolidated Entity’s risks
in this regard.

The Board has an Audit, Finance and Risk Committee (AFRC). The AFRC’s responsibilities include
assisting the Board to achieve the Board’s oversight requirements in relation to financial risk
management, internal control and risk management.

The Consolidated Entity’s principal financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, loans and loan receivables, debt instruments/securities and investments in listed and unlisted
securities. The Consolidated Entity’s principal financial liabilities comprise the listed CRPN (which were
issued as an in-specie return of capital effected in June 2015) and trade and other payables. The
Consolidated Entity’s activities expose it to a variety of direct and indirect financial risks comprising market
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.

ANNUAL REPORT | 59



 30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018
10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Market risk

(i) Price risk

Sensitivity analysis

2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $

5% increase 357,770      586,637      357,770        586,637         
5% decrease (357,770)     (586,637)     (357,770)       (586,637)        

(ii) Interest rate risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equities and property
prices will affect the Consolidated Entity’s profitability. The objective of market risk management is to
seek to manage and control risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising expected
returns.

The Consolidated Entity has performed a sensitivity analysis on its exposure to equity securities
price risk for its listed financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The analysis
demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in
these risks. The ASX/S&P 200 Accumulation Index was utilised as the benchmark for the
investment portfolio.

EquityProfit or loss

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments
held by the Consolidated Entity and classified in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value
through profit or loss. The Consolidated Entity may also be indirectly exposed to commodity price
risk in respect of its underlying investments.

The value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument, its issuer or factors
affecting all instruments in the market. The Consolidated Entity will always be subject to market
risk as it invests its capital in securities that are not risk free. This is reflected in the market price of
these securities which can and will fluctuate. The Consolidated Entity may endeavour to manage
this risk through entering into derivative contracts, futures, options or swaps (as applicable).

Equity price risk is also managed by ensuring that investment activities are undertaken in
accordance with Board established mandate limits and investment strategies.

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk primarily in cash held in interest bearing
instruments. The weighted average interest rate of the cash deposits for the year is 1.65%.

The Consolidated Entity’s Loans and Receivables are generally at fixed rates and where
applicable, asset-specific debt may be 'term matched' with fixed interest rates to endeavour to
hedge those specific cash flows. The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to ensure that, where
appropriate, all material interest rates in relation to non-recourse financing within an investment
are fixed for the term of the non-recourse financing.

The Consolidated Entity may be entitled to receive a fixed rate of interest in relation to its financial
assets. Interest income received as cash or, where there is a reasonable probability of receipt,
accrued as income, are recognised in the profit and loss statements.
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

2018 2017 2018 2017
100bp increase $ $ $ $
Variable rate instruments 50,080        14,145        - - 
Cash flow sensitivity (net) 50,080        14,145        - - 
100bp decrease
Variable rate instruments (50,080)       (14,145)       - - 
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (50,080)       (14,145)       - - 

(b) Credit risk

2018 2017
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 5,007,980 1,414,476      
Loans and receivables 5,400,908 11,835,100    
Trade and other receivables 106,038 406,847         

10,514,926 13,656,423    

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to credit risk in the event that a counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations in relation to the Consolidated Entity’s investments or deposits with banks and
other financial institutions.

The Consolidated Entity manages ongoing credit risk by monitoring the performance of investments,
the cyclical impact of the underlying asset class, and financial health of counterparties, banks and
other financial institutions.

Trade receivables
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of assets, net of any provision for
doubtful debts of those assets, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position and
notes to the financial statements. The Consolidated Entity does not have any material credit risk
exposure to any single trade debtor.

Profit or loss Equity

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates throughout the reporting period would have
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates remain constant. As at 30
June 2018 the Consolidated Entity is exposed to cash-on-hand deposit interest rates. Cash flow
sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding cash with reputable financial institutions
(predominantly Australian banks).

The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets represents its maximum credit
exposure. The Consolidated Entity’s credit risk exposure relates mainly to the following assets at the
reporting date:
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(c) Liquidity risk

2018 2017
CRPN - expected cash outflow $ $
Not more than 1 year 308,073 308,073         
Longer than 1 year but not longer than 4 years 4,709,120 5,017,194      

5,017,193 5,325,267      
(d) Foreign currency risk

AUD equivalents USD Euro NZD
2018 $ $ $
Cash and cash equivalent (1,362,908)  7,041,760 176,873         
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,478,031   - 99,579 
Loans and Receivables 532,551      - 3,135,158 
Total asset exposure 647,674      7,041,760 3,411,610      

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Consolidated Entity has CRPNs on issue and otherwise has
no borrowings. The Consolidated Entity's non-cash investments can be realised to meet payables
arising in the normal course of business and to meet the quarterly interest payments to CRPN
holders. The Company may elect to convert the CRPN into ordinary shares (at any time and at
maturity).  Refer Note 8 for further details in relation to the CRPN.

The current financial liabilities (ie. payables) have a maturity obligation of not more than 30 days. The
non-current financial liabilities (ie. CRPN, inclusive of assumed accrued interest) have maturity
obligations as follows:

Foreign currency risk arises from assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not
the Consolidated Entity’s functional currency, being Australian dollars (AUD). The Consolidated Entity
has a significant loan receivable denominated in New Zealand dollars (NZD) (Insurance) (refer Note
9), material investments denominated in US dollars (USD) and minor investments denominated in
other currencies. The Consolidated Entity also holds cash reserves denominated in foreign
currencies from time to time, with a material exposure to Euros (EUR) at balance date. The
Consolidated Entity does not hedge its assets denominated in foreign currencies and is therefore
exposed to foreign exchange (FX) movements when the value of such assets are translated into
Australian dollars. Any loss or gain arising on translation is recorded in the profit or loss statement.
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows:

The Consolidated Entity’s most significant counterparty exposure relates to non-current Loans and
Receivables totaling $5.401 million as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $11.835 million). 

Within Private Equity, the Consolidated Entity has granted a loan which is secured by interests held in
a private equity fund (which hold investments in US-domiciled manufacturing/distribution businesses).
Investments made by the fund may have senior debt at the investment level and as such, the loan
investment is indirectly impacted by changes in credit markets that may affect investments held by the
fund.
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10. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

USD Euro NZD
2017 $ $ $
Cash and cash equivalent 38,927        335,270 306,684         
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss - - 103,401         
Loans and Receivables 511,711      6,431,564 3,249,977      
Net exposure at carrying value 550,638      6,766,834 3,660,062      

Sensitivity analysis

USD Euro NZD
2018 $ $ $
10% increase (64,767)       (704,176)       (341,161)        
10% decrease 64,767        704,176 341,161         
2017
10% increase (55,064)       (676,683)       (366,006)        
10% decrease 55,064        676,683 366,006         

11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value hierarchy

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

Level 3 fair value measurements

The Consolidated Entity has performed a sensitivity analysis on its exposure to foreign currency risk.
It demonstrates the gain/loss on translation in AUD terms if there was a 10% change in relevant
foreign currency exchange rates, as follows:

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in Level 3. 

The following tables present the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and liabilities measured and
recognised at fair value at balance date categorised by the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The investment in Molopo Energy Limited (ASX:MPO) has transferred from category Level 2 to Level 3
due to MPO's suspension from ASX during the year (since 25 July 2017) and the adoption of a carrying
value as at balance date based on the Directors' judgment (refer Note 8 and Note(9)(e)(iii)).

ANNUAL REPORT | 63



 30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018
11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $

Shares in listed investments 5,982,292   - 1,196,456 7,178,748      
Futures derivative at fair value 23,352        - - 23,352 
Unlisted investments at fair value - - 99,579 99,579 

Total financial assets 6,005,644   - 1,296,035 7,301,679      

CRPN 4,053,364   - - 4,053,364      
Total financial liabilities 4,053,364   - - 4,053,364      

2017

Shares in listed investments 4,528,579   7,204,155   - 11,732,734 
Unlisted investments at fair value - - 103,401 103,401         

Total financial assets 4,528,579   7,204,155   103,401 11,836,135    

CRPN 4,141,385   - - 4,141,385      
Total financial liabilities 4,141,385   - - 4,141,385      

Accounting policy

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss:

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and
measurement or for disclosure purposes. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
(such as publicly traded derivatives and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted
market prices at balance date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the
Consolidated Entity is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is
the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques including but not limited to recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. The Consolidated Entity
may use a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at
each balance date. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for other financial instruments.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Consolidated Entity for similar financial instruments.

The Consolidated Entity’s “financial assets at fair value through profit and loss” and “financial liabilities at
fair value through profit and loss” is carried at fair value based on the quoted last bid prices at the
reporting date  (refer Note 8).  

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss:

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
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11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques

Fair values of other financial instruments 2018 2017
Financial assets $ $
Cash and cash equivalents 5,007,980 1,414,476      
Trade and other receivables 106,038 406,847         

5,114,018 1,821,323      
Financial liabilities
Payables (320,116)       (360,079)        

12. ISSUED CAPITAL 2018 2017
$ $

158,080,432 (2017: 158,812,327) Fully paid ordinary shares 253,637,724 253,717,174  

Movement in ordinary shares of shares $'000
At 1 July 2016 253,717,174  

- - 
At 30 June 2017 253,717,174  
Share buy-back (731,895)       (79,450)          
At 30 June 2018 253,637,724  

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts of cash, current receivables and current payables are
assumed to approximate their fair value.

158,812,327 

158,812,327 

Share buy-back
During the financial year, the Company bought back 731,895 shares at a total cost of $79,450 and at an
average buy-back cost of $0.1086 per share. This was pursuant to the on-market share buy-back
announced on 18 January 2017 which expired on 15 December 2017. On 5 December 2017, the
Company lodged a fresh ASX Appendix 3C Announcement of Share Buy-Back Notice announcing an
intention to undertake an on-market buy-back of up to 14,227,238 listed shares (being ~9% of
158,080,432 total shares on issue)) on or before 30 November 2018.

The Company also have on issue the listed CRPN's, which are convertible into fully paid ordinary shares
(refer Note 8) and unlisted fully paid ordinary shares (subject to vesting conditions, escrow and
dividend/voting restrictions) issued under the Executive Share Plan (Note 14). 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation
techniques such as the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the Loans and Receivables is as a result
of discounting the estimated future cash flows of the loan and receivable using prevailing market rates i.e.
if the Consolidated Entity were to provide new loans and advances or acquire new borrowing facilities as
at balance date instead of the original effective interest rate.

158,080,432 
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12. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)

Accounting policy

13. RESERVES 2018 2017
$ $

Profits reserve 1,815,395 2,466,025      
Share-based payment reserve 321,600 692,988         
Foreign currency translation reserve (2,557) - 

2,134,438     3,159,013      
Movements in Profits reserve
Opening balance 2,466,025 1,526,167      
Profits reserve transfer 139,772 939,858         
Dividends paid (Note 15) (790,402)       - 
Closing balance 1,815,395     2,466,025      

Movements in Share based payment reserve 
Opening balance 692,988 286,771         
Recognition of Share based payment reserve 103,836 406,217         
Reversal of Share based payment reserve (475,224)       - 
Closing balance 321,600        692,988         

Profits reserve

Share-based payment reserve (refer Note 14)

Foreign currency translation reserve

Accounting policy
Profit reserve

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and the right
to dividends.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the
purchase consideration.

This comprises the portion of the fair value of the Employee Share Plan shares recognised as an
expense. 

This comprises the appropriation from net profits during a relevant period and characterises profits
available for distribution as dividends in future years. 

An increase in the Profits Reserve will arise when the Company generates a net profit (after tax) for a
relevant financial period (eg. half year or full year) which the Board determines to credit to the Company’s
Profits Reserve. Dividends may be paid out of (and debited from) the Company’s Profits Reserve, from
time to time.

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entities are taken to the foreign
currency translation reserve as described in the accounting policy note below and accumulate in a
separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net
investment is disposed of.
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13. RESERVES (continued)

Accounting policy (continued)
Foreign currency translation reserve

(i)

(ii)

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

14. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Consolidated Entity has the following share based payment arrangements:

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
income and expenses for Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

On 28 November 2014, shareholders approved the Company's Executive Share Plan (ESP). For
accounting purposes (under AASB 2 (Share-based Payment)), the ESP shares were treated as options
over shares in the Company with the 'option' expiry date being the maturity date in respect of the ESP
loans granted to holders to fund the cost of the ESP shares issued. 

The ESP involved the Company providing interest-bearing limited-recourse loans to fund the cost of fully
paid ordinary shares issued to eligible executives and employees, typically with vesting conditions. Under
the ESP loan arrangements, the Company took security over the relevant ESP shares, which are unlisted
and held in escrow until repayment of the relevant loans. The applicable interest rate was 6.45% per
annum, capitalised monthly. The loans were repayable on 31 December 2017 (with a facility for earlier
payment in accordance with the terms of the ESP loan arrangements, including in the event the
executive/employee ceased employment with the Company). The principal amount of the ESP loan is with
limited-recourse against the ESP shares issued and the accrued interest component is full-recourse.

Fair value Vested and
Grant Expiry at grant Exercise Opening Closing exercisable 
date date date ($) price ($) balance Granted Exercised Cancelled balance at year end
Financial year 2018
19-Dec-14 31-Dec-17 0.04 0.23 10,000,000     -        - (4,000,000)    6,000,000     6,000,000     
19-Dec-14 31-Dec-17 0.02 0.35 5,000,000       -        - (2,000,000)    3,000,000     3,000,000     

15,000,000     -        - (6,000,000)    9,000,000     9,000,000     
Weighted average exercise price 0.27 0.27 0.27 

Financial year 2017
19-Dec-14 31-Dec-17 0.04 0.23 10,000,000     -        - - 10,000,000   6,666,666     
19-Dec-14 31-Dec-17 0.02 0.35 5,000,000       -        - - 5,000,000     3,333,334     

15,000,000     -        - - 15,000,000   10,000,000   
Weighted average exercise price 0.27 0.27 0.27 

During the year
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14. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Accounting policy

15. DIVIDENDS AND CRPN INTEREST PAYMENTS
2018 2017

Dividends paid during the financial year: Paid On $ $
0.5 cent per share fully franked dividend 08-Dec-17 790,402 - 

790,402 - 

CRPN interest paid during the financial year: Paid On
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 21-Sep-16 - 77,018 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 21-Dec-16 - 77,018 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 23-Mar-17 - 77,018 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 20-Jun-17 - 77,020 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 20-Sep-17 77,019 - 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 20-Dec-17 77,020 - 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 20-Mar-18 77,019 - 
CRPN interest payment (fully franked) 20-Jun-18 77,020 - 

308,078 308,074         

Shared-based compensation benefits were provided to relevant Executive Directors (after receipt of
shareholder approval) and other executives/employees under the Company's Executive Share Plan (ESP ) 
(approved by shareholders on 28 November 2014). Shares issued under the ESP were treated as options
over shares in the Company, in accordance with AASB 2 (Share-based Payment).

The fair value of performance rights granted were recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount expensed were determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, which included any market performance conditions and the impact of any
non-vesting conditions but excluded the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions were included in assumptions about the number of options that were
expected to vest. Total expense was recognised over the vesting period, which was the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions were to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revised its
estimates of the number of options that were expected to vest based on applicable non-marketing vesting
conditions. The Company recognised the impact of any revisions to the original estimates in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

As the ESP loans were created in respect of newly issued ESP shares (as opposed to being advanced to
acquire existing shares on-market), shareholders were not exposed to any cash loss risk arising from non-
repayment of any such loans. Further details about the ESP are contained in the Company's ASX
announcement dated 19 December 2014 (Appendix 3B and Further Detail Regarding Issuance of Loan
Funded Shares) and in the Company's Notice of AGM released on ASX on 19 October 2014.

CRPNs are regarded as an 'equity interest' under Australian tax law with interest payments regarded as a
'non-share dividend'. Interest payments will be fully franked (where possible) or grossed up with
additional cash payments to compensate for any unfranked component. 'Qualified' Australian resident
holders will have access to franking credits in this regard. Further details are in the CRPN Prospectus
(dated 17 June 2015) and ATO Class Ruling CR 2015/54.
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15. DIVIDENDS AND CRPN INTEREST PAYMENTS (continued)

2018 2017
$ $

7,702,089 7,835,214      

(a)

(b) Franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax; and
(c)

Accounting policy

16. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period,
adjusted for:

Franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at balance
date; 

Franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends and CRPN interest recognised as a 
liability at balance date.

The franking credits attributable to the Consolidated Entity include franking credits that would be available
to the parent entity if distributable profits of subsidiaries were paid out as franked dividends.

Franking credits available for subsequent periods based on
a tax rate of 27.5% (2017: 27.5%)

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared (being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity) on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at the Balance
Date.

The Company's objectives when managing its capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain a capital structure balancing the interests of all shareholders.

The Board will consider capital management initiatives as is appropriate and in the best interests of the
Company and shareholders from time to time, including undertaking capital raisings, issues of CRPNs (or
equivalents), CRPN and share buy-backs, capital returns/reductions and the payment of dividends.

The Consolidated Entity has no external borrowings (other than CRPNs). The Consolidated Entity's non-
cash investments can be realised to meet accounts payable arising in the normal course of business and
to meet the quarterly interest payments to CRPN holders. The Company may also elect to convert the
CRPN into ordinary shares (at any time and at maturity). Refer Note 8 for further details in relation to the
CRPN.
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17. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

2018 2017
$ $

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Profit/(Loss) for the year (7,562,924)    217,765         
Income tax - 
Total comprehensive income for the year (7,562,924)    217,765         

Statement of financial position
Current assets 13,055,851 2,277,126      
Non-current assets 6,243,390 25,551,427    
Current liabilities (221,274)       (360,080)        
Non-current liabilities (4,555,044)    (4,141,385)     
Net assets 14,522,923 23,327,088    

Issued capital 253,717,174  
Reserves 1,960,012     2,982,031      
Accumulated losses (233,372,117) 
Equity 14,522,923 23,327,088    

18. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Investment in controlled entities Incorporated 2018 2017
Bridge Financial Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%
Bridge Property Investments Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%
KBC Telco Infrastructure Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%
MB Finance Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%
Bridge Infrastructure Capital Pty Limited (Note 19) Australia 100% 50%
Bridge Infrastructure Capital (Midlum) Pty Limited (Note 19) Australia 100% 50%
Pacific Bridge Cyprus Limited Cyprus 100% 100%
BIC Europe Limited (Note 19) Malta 100% 50%

Accounting policy
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Consolidated Entity has control. The Consolidated Entity controls
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is assumed by the Consolidated Entity and are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Consolidated
Entity.

Australian controlled entities have a June financial year-end. Foreign controlled entities have a December
financial year-end. All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the Consolidated
Entity, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.   

The following information provided relates to the Company, Keybridge
Capital Limited, as at 30 June 2018.

Ownership interest

253,637,724 

(241,074,813) 
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19. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(i) Bridge Infrastructure Capital (Midlum) Pty Limited (BICM); and
(ii) BIC Europe Limited (BICE).

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition
BICPL BICM BICE

Assets $ $ $
Cash and cash equivalents - - 25,071 

Loans and receivables - - 1,115,287      

Liabilities
Payables - - (319,021)        
Net assets - - 821,337         

Accounting policy

20. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE ENTITY
2018 2017

Associate entity incorporated in Australia: 2018 2017 $ $
HHY Fund (ASX:HHY) 30.89% 26.46% 2,081,631     2,584,020      

On 27 April 2018, the Company acquired the balance of the 50% interest in Bridge Infrastructure Capital
Pty Limited (BICPL) in consideration of $1,101. The following companies are the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of BICPL:

Ownership Interest

There was no goodwill arising from acquisition as the net assets of BICE, which was in excess of the
consideration paid by the Company to the extent of $804,156, has been recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Consolidated Entity, liabilities incurred by the Consolidated
Entity to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Consolidated Entity in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

HHY is regarded as an Associated Entity as the Company has a greater than 20% interest and is the
Investment Manager of HHY. As such, the Company is considered to have ‘significant influence’ over
HHY.  
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20. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE ENTITY (continued)

2018 2017
Reconciliation of carrying amount: $ $
Opening balance 2,584,020 2,662,011      
Purchase of additional units 258,455 240,000         
Share of Associate entity's net loss after tax (760,844)       (298,555)        
Impairment of Associate entity -                (19,436)          
Carrying amount of investment in Associate Entity 2,081,631     2,584,020      

Fair value (at market price on ASX) of investment in Associate entity 1,986,611     2,264,697      
Net tangible asset backing value of investment in Associate entity 2,109,831     2,584,020      

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Revenue 267,144 579,560         
Expenses (2,689,503)    (1,852,677)     
Loss from continuing operations before income tax (2,422,359)    (1,273,117)     

Summarised statement of financial position
Total assets 6,908,734 9,808,489      
Total liabilities (74,573)         (56,914)          
Net assets 6,834,161     9,751,575      

Accounting policy
Associate entities are entities over which the Consolidated Entity has significant influence but not control
or joint control, generally accompanied by a holding of between approximately 20% and 50% of the voting
rights in the same. An investment in an Associate entity in the consolidated financial statements is
accounted for under the 'equity method' under AASB 128 (Investments in Associates). On initial
recognition, an investment in an Associate entity is recognised at cost - for an investment which was
classified as fair value through profit or loss, any gains or losses previously recognised are reversed
through profit or loss. Under this method, the Consolidated Entity’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of an Associate entity is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment.

Dividends or trust distributions from an Associate entity are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income and in the Statement of Financial Position, they reduce the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Consolidated Entity’s share of losses in an Associate entity equals
or exceeds its interest in the Associate, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Consolidated Entity does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the Associate.

Where applicable, unrealised gains on transactions between the Consolidated Entity and an Associate
entity is eliminated to the extent of the Consolidated Entity’s interest in the Associate entity. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. The accounting policies of Associates are aligned to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Consolidated Entity, where practicable.
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)

2018 2017
Directors $ $
Short-term employee benefits 354,999 545,173         
Post-employment benefits 33,725 39,473 
Equity-based benefits - 14,269 

388,724 598,915         
Other KMP
Short-term employee benefits 150,000 244,141         
Post-employment benefits - - 

538,724 843,056         

(b) Transactions with Directors

(i)

(ii)

(c) Transactions with Associate Entities

(i)

On 23 November 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Aurora Funds Management
Limited (AFML) for an AFML employee to provide limited portfolio management services to the
Company in respect of the Company's management of the investment portfolio of the HHY Fund
(ASX:HHY) (ie. pursuant to the IMA referred to below). The Company's Chairman, John Patton is
also the Managing Director and a beneficial owner of AFML. During the financial year, fees of
$18,000 (2017: $12,000) (excluding GST) have been incurred by the Company in this regard.
The arrangement was negotiated and agreement reached on an arms length commercial basis.

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors' Report for details of the remuneration
paid or payable to each member of the Consolidated Entity's KMP for the year ended 30 June 2018.
The total remuneration paid to KMP of the Consolidated Entity during the year is as follows:

During the financial year, the Consolidated Entity incurred legal expenses totaling $25,863 (2017:
$60,147) (excluding GST) with Atanaskovic Hartnell Lawyers (AH). Non-Executive Director,
Jeremy Kriewaldt, was a Partner in AH until 5 June 2018. AH fees are charged by AH and paid by
the Consolidated Entity on an arm's length commercial basis and Mr Kriewaldt was not involved in
the Consolidated Entity’s decisions concerning engagement of legal services provided by AH.

The Company entered into an Investment Management Agreement (IMA) (dated 30 June 2016)
with AFML (as Responsible Entity/Trustee) for the Company to manage the investment portfolio of
the HHY Fund ARSN 112 579 129 (ASX:HHY). During the financial year, the Company earned
$60,170 (2017: $75,331) (excluding GST) in management fees income under the IMA.
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Other Matters
(i)

(ii)

22. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

2018 2017
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu $ $
Audit and review of financial statements

Current year fees 94,000 45,000 
Additional fees in respect  of the prior year 210,000 206,875         

Tax services - 6,200 
Other payments - disbursements 18,599 13,170 

322,599 271,245         

23. LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Consolidated Entity does not have any loan commitments (30 June 2017: Nil).

24. CONTINGENCIES

The Consolidated Entity does not have any material contingent assets or liabilities.

The Company has agreed to advance $440,000 as loan funds in respect of former Managing
Director’s (Nicholas Bolton) legal costs incurred in circumstances where Mr Bolton’s Director’s
Deed with the Company provides a procedure for the advancement of monies in this regard. As at
balance date, $440,000 (2017: $335,608) has been advanced via payments made to Mr Bolton’s
lawyers. The Board agreed to advance these funds in accordance with the relevant provision of
Mr Bolton’s Director’s Deed and subject also to various terms and conditions agreed with Mr
Bolton, including a monetary cap (initially $400,000 and increased to $440,000 in March 2018),
that advances would be provided only as payment of bills rendered by Mr Bolton’s lawyers in
relation to the relevant proceedings, that the Company needed to be satisfied that the amount of
each legal bill was reasonable, that the Company would have access to Mr Bolton’s lawyers to
ensure that it was promptly informed of any material developments in relation to the proceedings
and otherwise to enable the Company to assess the likely outcome of those proceedings, that Mr
Bolton would be obliged to repay any amounts advanced in various circumstances specified in his
Director’s Deed including in any situation in which Mr Bolton is not entitled to be indemnified or
advanced those costs, and a provision for review of the position once the outcome of the relevant
proceeding is known, including the repayment of all or a portion of the advance (as appropriate).

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Auditor of the parent
entity, the Auditor's related practices and other non-related audit firms (as applicable):

The Company has engaged a former Director/KMP as a consultant corporate advisor and incurred
fees of $200,000 (excluding GST) under this arrangement during the year. This consultant does
not qualify as a KMP under AASB 124 (Related Party Disclosures), being a person having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Consolidated
Entity, directly or indirectly. 

ANNUAL REPORT | 74



 30 JUNE 2018 KEYBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED
A.B.N. 16 088 267 190

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the financial year that significantly affected,
or may significantly affect, the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial years.

The Directors have declared payment of a 0.50 cent per share fully-franked dividend at a total cost of
$790,402. The Company's Dividend Reinvestment Plan continues to be suspended. The record date
for determining entitlements is 21 September 2018 with payment expected to be made on or about 28
September 2018. The Company's Dividend Reinvestment Plan will not apply to this dividend.
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The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
(1) The financial statements, comprising the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, and accompanying notes as set out on 
pages 38 to 75 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and:  

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting; and  

(b) give a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and 
of their performance for the year ended on that date; 

 
(2) In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 

its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
 

(3) The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 
(Cth) by the Chairman (the person who, in the opinion of the Directors, performs the Chief Executive 
Officer function) and Company Secretary (the person who, in the opinion of the Directors, performs the 
Chief Financial Officer function); and 

 
(4) The Company has included in the notes to the Financial Statements an explicit and unreserved 

statement of compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

  
John Patton Simon Cato 
Chairman Non-Executive Director and 

Chairman of Audit, Finance and Risk Committee  
 
31 August 2018 
 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s295a.html
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s295.html


Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 

of Keybridge Capital Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Keybridge Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Consolidated Entity”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 

June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 

consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 

ended then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and

of its financial performance for the year then ended; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

section of our report. We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the auditor 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 

Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 

Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 

Tower 2, Brookfield Place 
123 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 

GPO Box A46 
Perth WA 6837 Australia 

Tel:  +61 8 9365 7000 
Fax:  +61 8 9365 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit responded to the 
Key Audit Matter 

Loans and receivables 

As at 30 June 2018 the carrying value of loans 
and receivables were $5.40m, net of 
allowances for impairment losses of $10.68m 
as disclosed in Note 9.  

The assessment of the recoverable value of 
these loans and receivables requires 
significant judgement in respect of 
assumptions such as making estimates of 
interest and principal repayments and the 
recoverability of loans, on a specific basis. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Evaluating the key controls management
have in place in relation to the estimate of the

recoverable value of loans;

• Challenging the assumptions and
methodology used to determine the specific
allowances;

• Evaluating recoverability of loans based on
expected future cash inflows, such as
estimate of interest and principal repayments

from loans; and
• Assessing the appropriateness of the

disclosures in Note 9 to the financial
statements.

Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 

As at 30 June 2018, financial assets 
designated as fair value through profit or loss 
were valued at $7.28m, as disclosed in Note 8. 

Included within this balance is an investment 
in Molopo Energy Limited (“MPO”) valued at 
$1.19m. Significant judgement is involved in 
estimating the fair value of this instrument.  

In conjunction with our internal valuations experts, 
our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Assessing management’s estimations and

judgements adopted;
• Ensuring that the accounting treatment was

in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards;

• Reviewing legal correspondence and
regulatory announcements on MPO related

matters and considering the impact on the
management assumptions used in calculating
MPO’s fair value; and

• Assessing the appropriateness of the
disclosures in Notes 8 and 11 to the financial
statements.
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Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Report, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and also includes the following 
information which will be included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report (but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon): Preliminary Final Report, Results for Announcement 
to the Market and Securities Information, which is expected to be made available to us after that date.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

When we read the Preliminary Final Report, Results for Announcement to the Market and Securities 
Information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 

communicate the matter to the directors and use our professional judgement to determine the 
appropriate action.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Consolidated Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Consolidated Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:   

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors of the Entity.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity’s
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 28 to 34 of the Directors’ Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2018.   

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Keybridge Capital Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2018, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
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Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 

Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 

Auditing Standards.  

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

Ian Skelton 

Partner 

Chartered Accountants 

Perth, 31 August 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition, March 
2014) issued by the ASX Corporate Governance Council in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

Pursuant to ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3, the Company’s 2018 Corporate Governance Statement (dated on or 
about 16 October 2018) and ASX Appendix 4G (Key to Disclosures of Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations) can be found at the following URL on the Company’s Internet website:  
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php   

VOTING RIGHTS 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

• At any meeting of the shareholders, each shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy
or by power of attorney or, in the case of a shareholder which is a corporation, by representative.

• Every person who is present in the capacity of shareholder or the representative of a corporate
shareholder shall, on a show of hands, have one vote.

• Every shareholder who is present in person, by proxy, by power of attorney or by corporate
representative shall, on a poll, have one vote in respect of every fully paid share held by him.

Unlisted Executive Share Plan (ESP) Shares 

• No voting rights until after the satisfaction of conditions under their terms of issue.

• Thereafter, ESP shares will have the same voting rights as fully paid ordinary shares,

Listed Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes 

• No voting rights (unless the Corporations Act or ASX Listing Rules provide otherwise).

ON-MARKET BUY-BACKS 

The Company currently has the following on-market buy-back programmes in place respect of its listed shares 
(ASX: KBC) and listed Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA) (CRPN): 

• Share Buy-Back:  On 5 December 2017, the Company announced its intention to undertake a fresh
on-market buy-back of up to 14,227,238 shares (being ~9% of 158,080,432 total shares on issue) on
or before 30 November 2018.

• CRPN Buy-Back:  On 24 January 2018, the Company announced its intention to undertake a fresh
on-market buy-back of up to 440,104 CRPNs (being ~10% of 4,401,047 total notes on issue) on or
before 18 January 2019.

No shares or CRPNs have been bought-back under these on-market buy-back programmes as at 12 October 
2018. 

http://www.asx.com.au/documents/asx-compliance/cgc-principles-and-recommendations-3rd-edn.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/regulation/corporate-governance-council.htm
http://www.asx.com.au/documents/rules/gn09_disclosure_corporate_governance_practices.pdf
http://keybridge.com.au/corporate_governance.php
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20171205/pdf/43pxmplvw0l9wr.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180124/pdf/43r0xvblq8v41w.pdf
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SECURITIES ON ISSUE 

Class of Security Quoted on ASX Unlisted 

Fully paid ordinary shares (ASX:KBC) 158,080,432 - 

Executive Share Plan shares(1) - 9,000,000

Convertible Redeemable Promissory Notes (ASX:KBCPA)(2) 4,401,047 - 

Notes: 

(1) Issued on 10 December 2014 (refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 19 December 2014: Appendix 3B and Further
Detail Regarding Issuance of Loan Funded Shares) after receipt of shareholder approval at an annual general meeting
held on 28 November 2014 (refer KBC’s Notice of AGM released on ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC’s ASX
announcement dated 1 December 2014: Results of AGM)

(2) Issued on 30 June 2015 (refer KBC’s ASX Announcement dated 18 June 2015: Appendix 3B) after receipt of shareholder 
approval on 28 November 2014 (refer KBC’s Notice of AGM released on ASX on 30 October 2014 and KBC’s ASX
announcement dated 1 December 2014: Results of AGM).  The notes have a face value of $1.00, pays interest at 7% pa
and matures on 31 July 2020 (unless redeemed or bought-back by Keybridge earlier).  Further details are in Note 8
(Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss) of the financial statements and in the CRPN
Prospectus (dated 17 June 2015) and ATO Class Ruling CR 2015/54 (dated 22 July 2015).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Substantial Shareholder Registered Shareholder 
Number of 

Shares held %Voting Power (5) 

Australian Style Group Pty Ltd 
Australian Style Group Pty Ltd 33,608,425 22.53%(1) 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 2,012,267 

Wilson Asset Management Group  
(WAM Capital Limited (ASX:WAM) 
WAM Active Limited (ASX:WAA) 
Wilson Asset Management Equity 
Fund) 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) 
Limited 

33,117,623 20.95%(2) 

Bentley Capital Limited (ASX:BEL) Bentley Capital Limited 15,850,000 20.05%(3) 
Scarborough Equities Pty Ltd 15,850,000 

Orion Equities Limited (ASX:OEQ) Bentley Capital Limited 15,850,000 20.05%(4) 
Scarborough Equities Pty Ltd 15,850,000 

Queste Communications Ltd 
(ASX:QUE) 

Bentley Capital Limited 15,850,000 20.05%(4) 
Scarborough Equities Pty Ltd 15,850,000 

Notes: 

(1) Based on the Change of Substantial Holder Notice lodged by Australian Style Group Pty Ltd dated 24 March 2014
(updated to reflect current registered shareholdings and percentage voting power)

(2) Based on the Change of Substantial Holder Notice lodged by Wilson Asset Management Group dated 14 May 2018

(3) Based on the Change of Substantial Holder Notice lodged by BEL dated 23 October 2017 (updated to reflect current
percentage voting power)

(4) Based on the Change of Substantial Holder Notice lodged by QUE and OEQ dated 8 July 2016 (updated to reflect current
percentage voting power)

(5) Movements of less than 1% in voting power are not required to be disclosed to ASX via an updated substantial
shareholding notice and accordingly, there may be variances between the shareholdings recorded in the table above and 
the most recent substantial shareholding notices lodged on ASX.  Current registered shareholdings have been disclosed
(where applicable).

http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/KBC
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/markets/equityPrices.do?by=asxCodes&asxCodes=kbcpa
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141219/pdf/42vlwx87zrjyff.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141201/pdf/42v580c89yyfz3.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150618/pdf/42z8c5v9175v2y.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141030/pdf/42tbgddkhp64gw.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20141201/pdf/42v580c89yyfz3.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20150630/pdf/42zj2fv8mm252x.pdf
https://www.ato.gov.au/law/view/pdf/pbr/cr2015-054.pdf
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/wam
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/waa
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/BEL
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/oeq
http://www.asx.com.au/asx/share-price-research/company/que
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20140325/pdf/42nlzqwh4cytxp.pdf
http://wilsonassetmanagement.com.au/
https://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20180514/pdf/43v0qlv9zxvz27.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=pdf&idsId=01910765
http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20160708/pdf/438ggyqj16gfd9.pdf
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DISTRIBUTION OF LISTED CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PROMISSORY NOTES 

Spread of Holdings Number of Holders Number of Notes % of Total Issued Notes 
1 - 1,000 727 135,252 3.07% 

1,001 - 5,000 68 146,983 3.34% 
5,001 - 10,000 19 137,680 3.13% 

10,001 - 100,000 35 1,179,199 26.79% 
100,001 - and over 3 2,801,933 63.67% 

TOTAL 852 4,401,047 100% 

TOP TWENTY LISTED CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PROMISSORY NOTEHOLDERS 

Rank Registered Noteholder 
Total 

Notes Held 
% Total Issued 

Notes 

1 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 2,495,824 56.71 

2 MARKO NOMINEES PTY LTD  180,859 4.11 

3 PW AND VJ COOPER PTY LIMITED  125,250 2.85 

4 MR JINXIANG LU 90,000 2.04 

5 NAMBIA PTY LTD  82,368 1.87 

6 MRS CUIXIAN WANG 77,000 1.75 

7 G CHAN PENSION PTY LIMITED  63,810 1.45 

8 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD  61,964 1.41 

9 BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED 55,840 1.27 

10 MR CRAIG ANTHONY TURTON 51,630 1.17 

11 MR COLIN JOHN VAUGHAN + MRS ROBIN VAUGHAN 50,000 1.14 

12 FRESHMO INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 41,200 0.94 

13 MS WEICHEN GU 40,000 0.91 

14 MR YEE TECK TEO 35,245 0.80 

15 DENALD NOMINEES PTY LTD  33,333 0.76 

16 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - GSCO ECA 32,250 0.73 

17 AUSTRALIAN STYLE HOLDINGS PTY LTD  31,414 0.71 

18 MR GREGORY DYER + MRS DEBORAH DYER  31,080 0.71 

19 MR BORIS POGOS + MRS MARGOT POGOS  30,000 0.68 

20 APPWAM PTY LTD 27,777 0.63 

TOTAL 3,636,844 82.64% 
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DISTRIBUTION OF LISTED ORDINARY SHARES 
Spread of Holdings Number of Holders Number of Shares % of Total Issued Capital 

1 - 1,000 43 7,662 0.01% 
1,001 - 5,000 165 593,304 0.38% 
5,001 - 10,000 142 1,104,615 0.70% 

10,001 - 100,000 246 8,868,319 5.61% 
100,001 - and over 66 147,506,532 93.31% 

TOTAL 662 158,080,432 100% 

UNMARKETABLE PARCELS 
Spread of Holdings Number of Holders Number of Shares % of Total Issued Capital 

1 - 6,493 251 851,713 0.54% 
6,494 - over 411 157,228,719 99.46% 

TOTAL 662 158,080,432 100% 

An unmarketable parcel is considered, for the purposes of the above table, to be a shareholding of 6,250 shares or less, being a value of 
$500 or less in total, based upon the Company’s last sale price on ASX of $0.077 per share, as at 12 October 2018. 

TOP TWENTY LISTED ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHAREHOLDERS 

Rank Registered Shareholder 
Shares 

Held 

Total 
Shares 

Held 

% 
Issued 
Capital 

1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - GSCO ECA 

34,314,569 
5,625,000 
Sub-total 39,939,569 25.27 

2 AUSTRALIAN STYLE GROUP PTY LTD  33,608,425 21.26 

3 BENTLEY CAPITAL LIMITED  15,850,000 10.03 

4 SCARBOROUGH EQUITIES PTY LTD  15,850,000 10.03 

5 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 6,850,005 4.33 

6 COWOSO CAPITAL PTY LTD 4,694,815 2.97 

7 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,361,976 2.13 

8 MR NICHOLAS BOLTON 2,376,000 
MR NICHOLAS BOLTON + MR JOHN BOLTON 325,000 
AUSTRALIAN STYLE HOLDINGS PTY LTD  492,100 

Sub-total 3,193,100 2.02 

9 MR PATRICK MARTIN BURROUGHS 2,000,000 1.27 

10 DEAN WHITESTONE PTY LIMITED 2,000,000 1.27 

11 MR COLIN JOHN VAUGHAN + MRS ROBIN VAUGHAN 1,430,811 0.91 

12 DENALD NOMINEES PTY LTD  1,200,000 0.76 

13 APPWAM PTY LTD 1,000,000 0.63 

14 MR KEITH DANBY LUCAS  1,000,000 0.63 

15 TRAFALGAR STREET NOMINEES  909,091 0.58 

16 GSK ENTERPRISES PTY LTD  725,000 0.46 

17 BAINPRO NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 710,010 0.45 

18 MR PETER HOWELLS 699,287 0.44 

19 MR YEE TECK TEO 604,283 0.38 

20 TADMARO PTY LIMITED 590,800 0.37 

TOTAL 136,217,172 86.19% 
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